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Financial highlights
2004 2003

Turnover £638m £429m
Operating profit £323m* £227m
Profit before tax £156m* £113m
Earnings per share 48.8p* 39.3p
*pre exceptional items

TURNOVER

UP 49%
PROFIT BEFORE TAX*

UP 38% 
EARNINGS PER SHARE*

UP 24%
DIVIDEND

UP 38%
*pre exceptional items

PUNCH’S STRATEGY 
OF PURSUING ORGANIC
GROWTH AND VALUE-
ENHANCING ACQUISITIONS
HAS DELIVERED ANOTHER
YEAR OF STRONG
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Operational highlights

■ Group turnover up 49% to £638 million 
(2003: £429 million) 
– original Punch estate like-for-like turnover 

up 2.9%

■ Profit before tax (pre exceptional items) 
up 38% to £156 million (2003: £113 million) 
– original Punch estate like-for-like profit 

per pub up 3.9%

■ Adjusted earnings per share (pre exceptional
items) up 24% to 48.8p (2003: 39.3p)

■ Excellent result driven by: 
– organic growth – original Punch estate

average EBITDA per pub up 8.7%
■ – acquisition of Pubmaster plus 

80 individual pubs
■ Proposed final dividend of 6.1p, bringing 

the total dividend for the year to 9.0p,
representing an increase of 38% (2003: 6.5p) 

■ Continued investment in estate: 
£46 million including 580 developments

■ Completed integration of Pubmaster, the 
third largest UK pub group, adding 3,115
further leased and tenanted outlets to the
enlarged Group. Immediately earnings
enhancing and on target to exceed 
£10 million per annum estimated synergies

■ Post year end, acquisition of InnSpired for 
£335 million, adding a further 1,064 pubs 
to the Group

■ Trading in the current year is in line with
expectations



Who we are
Our business at a glance

PUNCH’S MISSION IS TO

HELP
RETAILERS
BUILD
BETTER
BUSINESSES
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Geographical split

This year we have successfully integrated the Pubmaster
estate and have a portfolio of pubs that covers the
geographical spread of the UK.

Scotland 6%
North 6%
North West 15%
Yorks and Humber 13%
West Midlands 13%
East Midlands 7%
East Anglia 5%
Wales 6%
London 5%
South East 18%
South West 6%

PUNCH IS AN INNOVATIVE 
AND DYNAMIC PUB COMPANY 
WITH MORE THAN

7,300 PUBS
IN ITS ESTATE



Sector split Punch’s growth propeller model

Our propeller business model formalises our drive and
determination to realise the potential for each of our
pubs. It’s a dynamic, virtuous circle and helps us to
enhance value throughout our estate.

Our methodology for organising 
our portfolio of pubs greatly
enhances our ability to help each
retailer individually.

ATTRACT
THE BEST
RETAILERS

ACQUIRE
MORE
PUBS

DEVELOP
INCOME

STREAMS

INDUSTRY
LEADING

TRAINING &
SUPPORT

QUALITY PUB
ESTATE

OPTIMISE
FINAMCE

DEVELOP
FULL PUB
POTENTIAL

Attract the best retailers
We strive to find the best calibre of entrepreneurial retailers to run the pubs in
our estate. Over the last 12 months we have expanded our recruitment team
and revamped our website making it even easier for prospective retailers to
apply. Together with our field based support teams and a structured interview
process we now have a talent bank of over 1,600 registered applicants looking
for pubs with Punch.

Industry leading training and support
In the past year over 1,800 retailers have taken part in our award winning
training programmes which give our retailers the best possible start in business.
Our approach to training is to focus on those issues making the biggest financial
impact such as increasing customer footfall and raising financial awareness.
This year our training initiatives have been recognised by the National
InnKeeper Training Awards (NITAs) at which we won Best Development
Programme in a Non Managed Estate for our retailer facing Ex!Factor course.

Develop full pub potential
To ensure we maximise the full potential of every pub in our estate we commit
significant amounts each year on investment. One of the key drivers of our
business is our extensive pub development programme and this year has seen 
us invest £35 million on 580 schemes of which 74 were from the ex Pubmaster
estate. Every project is carefully planned according to the target market and
the retailer’s specific objectives and a full evaluation is carried out on each one.

Develop income streams
We know there is more to running a pub than selling a decent pint. We can
help our retailers to harness the non-beer potential and give help and advice
on developing food offerings and sourcing wines from across the world. In
fact our extensive ranges of wines and spirits were re-launched this year
through the Connect to Wine brochure and specific trade shows.

Acquire more pubs
Our most significant acquisition in the past year was the £1.2bn purchase 
of Pubmaster, the UK’s third largest pub group – which brought our estate 
to circa 7,300 pubs. In September 2004 we completed the purchase of
InnSpired Group Ltd adding a further 1,064 pubs to our estate.

A Basic Local 39%
B Mid Market Local 27%
C City Local 9%
D Upmarket Local 5%
E Premium Dining 3%
F Value Dining 5%
G Chameleon 2%
H Circuit 2%
I Venue 2%
J Others 2%
K Unallocated 4%

A

B

D

C
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F

G
H

I J K



Strategic & operational review
Continued strong momentum

The financial year to the 21 August 2004 has continued the strong
momentum of delivering growth for shareholders through organic
operational improvement and value-enhancing acquisitions.

Punch’s strategy is straightforward. It is to focus on organic growth of 
the pub estate through effective recruitment of high quality pub operators;
training and support; capital investment and the continued development
of preferential supply arrangements for our pubs. At the same time, the
Company seeks to make acquisitions that meet the Board’s criteria for
earnings enhancement. Punch’s results for the year reflect excellent
progress in all of these areas.

Results
A summary of key achievements is set out below. Figures exclude
exceptional items.

■ Turnover of £638m, up 49%
■ Operating profit of £323m, up 42%
■ Profit before tax for the year of £156m, up 38%
■ Adjusted earnings per share of 48.8p, up 24% 
■ Continued organic growth with like-for-like turnover and pub profit

contribution up 2.9% and 3.9% respectively. Average EBITDA per pub 
in the original estate up 8.7%

■ Acquisition and completed integration of Pubmaster, previously the third
largest UK pub chain, adding 3,115 further leased and tenanted outlets

Corporate activity
In December 2003, we completed the acquisition of Pubmistress Limited,
the ultimate parent company of the Pubmaster pub group. The purchase
price of £1.2bn was met from retained securitised debt, our own cash
reserves, and a small amount of unsecured corporate debt which has 
since been repaid. The Pubmaster business was successfully integrated 
into the Group within six months of completion and we are on target to
exceed the expected synergies of £10m per annum announced at the 
time of acquisition.

Since year end, we have completed the acquisition of InnSpired Group, 
the owner of 1,064 leased and tenanted pubs. The consideration of 
£335m was met in the first instance by retaining InnSpired’s existing
securitised debt and a small increase in our unsecured debt facility.

These earnings enhancing acquisitions are made possible by the strong 
cash generation of our business. In the last two years we have almost
doubled the size of our estate, using our own cash resources and debt,
whilst increasing our interest cover from 1.8 times in 2002 to 2.0 times 
in 2004.

Organic growth
Note that in this section: ‘growth’ refers to a comparison against a
comparable 52 week period in 2003, rather than the complete reported
year of 53 weeks; the ‘original Punch estate’ refers to the whole estate
except the Pubmaster acquisition.

Our business model continues to deliver growth in revenues and profits.
Helping retailers build better businesses is at the core of everything we 
do and plays a central role in achieving organic growth by maximising 
the overall profitability of every pub whilst optimising our share of the
available profit.

Phil Cox
Chairman

OPERATING PROFIT

£323M*

OUR DYNAMIC
APPROACH HAS 
AGAIN DELIVERED
RECORD RESULTS
*pre exceptional items
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The Shine Awards
In the last financial year we launched our second annual
Shine awards and in May 2004 we received over 1,400
nominations across the 15 regions in our estate. Each pub
was recognised for its skills and initiative and the national
winner will be announced at the grand final in January 2005.

Above is last year’s Shine awards winner Paul Shelton at his
pub The Dog, Whittington. He is pictured with his partner
Sarah Adams and a Marie Curie Cancer Care nurse – the
charity that benefited from the awards.







Strategic & operational review
continued

In our like-for-like original Punch estate, organic turnover growth of 
2.9% led to growth in pub profit contribution of 3.9%. This steady 
income growth, with improving margins, has been achieved by working 
in partnership with our retailers and suppliers to improve the quality 
of experience delivered to consumers by pubs in our estate.

We continue to seek the best calibre of entrepreneurial retailers, those 
who are attracted by the opportunity to run a successful small business for
a relatively low cost of entry. Over the last 12 months, we have expanded
our recruitment team and improved our website, spelling out the various
options available to any potential retailer and ensuring we have well
informed applicants from the start of the recruitment process. Together
with structured interviewing and local networking, these initiatives have
created a talent bank of over 1,600 registered applicants seeking pubs 
with Punch. 

Over the year some 1,800 retailers have participated in our award winning
training programmes. Our approach to training is to focus on those issues
that make the biggest financial impact such as financial awareness, legal
compliance and growing customer footfall, and then to follow up with
further involvement at key stages in the evolution of the pub, such as
following investment. We continue to develop our training programmes
and this year have been recognised by the National InnKeeper Training
Awards (NITAs) at which we won Best Area Manager/Business Relationship
Manager Training Award and Best Development Programme in a Non
Managed Estate for our retailer facing Ex!Factor course. One of the Punch
retailers was also awarded Best Licensee Trainer of the Year.

Consumers in Punch pubs are offered a wider choice of drink products 
than ever before, with over 250 draught ales and lagers and over 950 
non-beer product lines available to our retailers. We sold 162 different 
cask ales during the year and our Finest Cask scheme sourced ales from 
35 different brewers. Integration with Pubmaster enabled us to renegotiate
key supply contracts with three major brewers and most regionals, widening
choice and further consolidating the position of Carling and Stella Artois 
as the number one standard and premium lagers respectively in our estate.
Consequently beer margin in the original Punch estate rose by 5% in 
the year.

Non beer sales continue to grow with margin up 9% in the year in the
original Punch estate. Whilst growth in ready-to-drink flavoured alcoholic
beverages has slowed, cider sales have shown strong growth and our
extensive range of wines and spirits was successfully relaunched through
our Connect to Wine brochure and enhanced wine range. 

Rent in the original Punch estate rose by 6% in the year, with the two key
drivers being our new lease agreements and investment. We now have
1,557 pubs on the Punch Growth Lease, an increase of 209 during the
year, and our biggest single lease agreement. In May 2004, we launched 
a new Retailer Agreement, an evolution of the Growth Lease which permits
more flexibility to reflect a retailer’s particular business needs. The Retailer
Agreement has also received a crystal mark from the Plain English Society. 
In the first three months since its launch, 74 retailers have taken the long
term version of the Retailer Agreement.

Our investment programme continues to drive business growth for
ourselves and the retailer. During the year we invested over £35m in 580
development schemes, including 74 in the Pubmaster estate. We continue
to see excellent opportunities to use investment to enhance our estate and
achieve high returns.

WE ARE DETERMINED 
TO CONTINUE OUR 

STRATEGY
FOR
GROWTH

Giles Thorley
Chief Executive
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Partnership with retailers
Punch prides itself on giving the retailer the very best
support through their Business Relationship Manager 
and award winning training. In the last year we have held
some 6,500 training days for our retailers covering a wide
range of issues from legal and financial awareness to how
to increase customer throughput in all the pubs across the
Punch estate. In the next financial year we will build upon
the solid training foundation we have in place and keep
Punch as first choice for anyone interested in running 
their own pub business.



Strategic & operational review
continued

Machine income was affected this year by increased competition, especially
from new FOBT (fixed odds betting terminal) machines in licensed betting
shops, and underlying growth was slow. Nevertheless the transfer of
retailers onto machine share agreements continued to drive our income
stream which increased by 13% in the original Punch estate, where 64%
of retailers are now on machine share contracts (Pubmaster 74%).

Corporate responsibility 
Our stance in the case of all regulatory issues is to work closely with the rest
of the industry and with our retailers to fully represent their views and then
to assist in the implementation of new regulations. Our programme of
regional and national retailer forums provides an invaluable medium to
discuss critical business issues and formulate company strategies. Topics
covered recently have included smoking, public disorder, licensing reform,
and the Disability Discrimination Act. In all of these areas, we have been
working closely with our retailers to ensure that they and we are fully
prepared for the challenges and opportunities that reform presents, 
and that our corporate action fully represents retailer views. 

Through our memberships of the British Beer and Pub Association,
Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers and the All Party Parliamentary
Beer Group, we work hard to represent the interests of our retailers and
that of the industry as a whole.

Punch Group is a signatory to the Portman Group code of practice
promoting responsible drinking and we encourage the responsible sale 
of alcohol by our retailers. Although the operators of licensed premises are
responsible for the conduct in their pubs, it is important not to forget the
need for education to tackle some of the country’s social issues.

We have been involved in the process of licensing reform for a number of
years and we believe licensing reform represents a considerable opportunity
to tailor individual opening hours to suit local communities. We have been
working hard to prepare our outlets for the new regime. We are making
good progress to complete floor plans for all of our premises and we are
also able to assist in the production of operating plans for each outlet.

The Government’s proposals to restrict smoking in public places were
published on 16 November 2004 and reflect a general market trend
towards creating more smoke free environments.

The Government plans to reduce the number of adult smokers, from 27%
now to 18% by the time the proposed ban is introduced in four years time,
and we believe achieving these targets will make it much easier for us to
implement changes in our estate. We also welcome the fact that we have
four years to introduce the change and that the proposals provide some
flexibility for retailers. However, many will still face a hard and restrictive
choice as the proposal will cause distortion of the market.

To this end, we will be looking to work with the Government through the
consultation process to see if there is an opportunity for the segregation 
of smoking and non-smoking areas in local community and rural pubs, 
thus protecting those businesses which form the hub of most communities.
We will also continue to work positively with our retailers to introduce
changes in support of their businesses and through trade bodies such as
the British Beer and Pub Association; our aim is to devise effective solutions
that satisfy the needs of all our customers.

WE BELIEVE THAT IT IS
OUR RESPONSIBILITY TO
PROTECT THE SUCCESS
AND ENDURING NATURE 
OF THE BRITISH PUB
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Responsibility and transparency
Many of our pubs are at the centre of their local
communities, and we are very aware of our responsibilities
in this area. We participate very actively in national and
local initiatives to promote socially responsible behaviour
and have implemented, in partnership with our retailers,
various programmes of activity in the community.





Trade and Industry Select Committee inquiry
We have cooperated fully with the Select Committee inquiry which 
has heard from Punch and from others clear evidence to show that our
business model creates value for retailers, consumers and shareholders
alike. Our relationship with our retailers is critical to our success and we
work hard to help retailers succeed in building strong, profitable and
growing businesses. We operate within a framework that provides a fair
opportunity for all and in the vast majority of cases we work well in
partnership with our retailers.

Acquisitions and disposals
On 1 December 2003 the £1.2bn acquisition of Pubmaster was completed.
The Pubmaster estate comprised 3,115 local community pubs with a
complementary geographical fit, giving the combined Punch estate true
nationwide coverage. 

The integration of Pubmaster was completed by the transfer of systems 
and infrastructure to Punch in May 2004, and the closure of all Pubmaster
offices. The integration is already delivering material benefits from support
cost savings and from renegotiated supply deals. Synergy benefits are now
expected to exceed the forecast £10m per annum, with a growing benefit
from supply and improved margins. Furthermore, the extension of our
investment programme into the Pubmaster estate has confirmed significant
development opportunities which we can couple with the rollout of longer
term Retailer Agreements over the next few years.

In addition to Pubmaster, we continue to source high quality individual
acquisitions and during the year completed the purchase of 80 attractive
individual sites. 

These acquisitions are testament to Punch’s ability to secure high quality
assets for the right price. We are delighted by the successful integration 
of Pubmaster and are confident that we can deliver further earnings
enhancement from this and other future acquisitions.

During the year we sold a total of 376 pubs. Of these, 256 were sold 
for net proceeds of £54m as a direct consequence of the Pubmaster
acquisition, in order to remove areas of local overlap, and the unique
circumstances of this sale created a loss of £12m. A further 120 pubs 
were sold, mainly for alternative use, for net proceeds of £22m, in line 
with book value.

Finance structure and accounting issues
In November 2003 we completed the restructure of our securitised debt 
by merging Punch Funding II into an enlarged Punch Taverns Finance
structure with total securitised debt of £1,825m. This process was
successful in releasing £265m of additional cash and in streamlining 
the covenant structure.

Following the acquisition of Pubmaster our gross debt has been 
increased to £2,800m (net of cash collateralised loans) of which £2,787m 
is securitised, at fixed interest rates averaging 7.1%. Net debt, taking
account of cash in the business, is £2,635m. Interest cover in the year
increased to 2.0 times, and further agreed debt facilities of over £250m
were unused at year end.

Strategic & operational review
continued
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SYNERGY BENEFITS ARE 

EXPECTED
TO EXCEED
£10M
PER ANNUM



The debt restructure and acquisition of Pubmaster gave rise to exceptional
costs of £23.1m in the year (£19.0m net of tax). The largest item was the
exceptional loss on disposal of property of £12m, referred to above.
Pubmaster integration, redundancy and related costs totalled £8.2m.

As part of our policy to revalue all pubs over a five year period, 877 pubs
were revalued in the year giving rise to an increase over book value of
£85m (20%). This has been accounted for in reserves.

The overall tax charge for the year of £30.8m represented 23% of pre-tax
profit, or 22% on a pre-exceptionals basis, as we continue to benefit from
prior year losses. However, as these losses are used up, our tax charge is
increasing (2003: 14%), slowing our growth in reported earnings.

Management
Following the appointment to the Board of Adrian Fawcett (Chief Operating
Officer) on 15 January 2004, the Board has been further strengthened by
the appointment of Jonathan Paveley (Commercial Director) in September
2004. Also in September 2004 we welcomed as Non-executive Directors
Ian Fraser, currently Chief Operating Officer of Orange UK, and Martin
Glenn, currently President of Pepsico’s interests in UK and Ireland. 

Cornel Riklin, Texas Pacific Group’s (‘TPG’) representative on the Board,
resigned in December 2003, following the sale by TPG of their interest in
Punch. Marc Jonas, one of the founder members of Punch, left the Board 
in September 2004. The Board would like to thank both Cornel and Marc
for their valuable contribution to the Group.

Acquisition of InnSpired
On 10 September 2004 we completed the acquisition of InnSpired Group
Ltd, adding a further 1,064 pubs to the estate. This estate further enhances
the Group’s geographical coverage and strengthens our presence in the
South and South West in particular. We are delighted with the quality of
the core pubs within the estate and the significant investment opportunity
that InnSpired offers. The estate is already delivering good returns and 
has attractive growth potential for the future. However, it has always been
our intention to sell on a proportion of the estate which doesn’t meet
Punch’s criteria and we are currently reviewing the InnSpired portfolio to
identify those outlets that we wish to retain. Once this exercise has been
completed, we plan to integrate the retained outlets into the Punch estate
and anticipate the exercise will be completed no later than Spring 2005. 

On 21 October 2004 we agreed to redeem fixed rate notes within the
InnSpired securitisation structure and announced plans to redeem the
whole structure in November 2004. The securitised finance of £239m will
be replaced in the first instance by short term borrowing facilities, which 
will increase our flexibility to consider options for the estate.

Future prospects and outlook
The market outlook continues to be positive and current trading is
following established trends. Both of our recent acquisitions are performing
well and we continue to see good opportunities for further acquisitions and
property based transactions to enhance value.

The community pub holds a unique and strong position in the social fabric
of the UK and we believe that by working closely with our retailers and
focusing on investment and training it will continue to do so.

WE ARE
DELIGHTED
WITH THE 

QUALITY
OF THE CORE
INNSPIRED PUBS



Helping retailers
build better businesses
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Dulais Rock
Following our detailed programme of investment
and practical support, The Dulais Rock is now one
of the best performing pubs in our portfolio.

RENAISSANCE OF THE 

DULAIS
ROCK

After

Before

The transformation of the Dulais Rock has been one of the major success
stories of the last year.

Prior to our involvement, and consequent investment in terms of finance and
expertise, the pub had been closed and the domestic living accommodation
had been declared unfit for habitation. However, in partnership with the
lessee, the pub has been fundamentally changed in terms of positioning
and offering.

The outlet is now predominantly food-based with the focus on the
restaurant, which turns over in excess of 130 covers a week with an
average dry spend per head of £22. The outlet now takes between £7,000
and £9,000 per week. There is also a bar meal menu and a café style menu
of paninis and coffees, with non-beer sales well above appraised levels and
ale and lager barrelage levels better than predicted. 

The main changes to the building were the inclusion of 3 letting bedrooms
which required significant structural work, reinstating the original cellar and
the conversion of a skittle alley into new toilet facilities including disabled. The
trade area was doubled by converting part of the domestic accommodation
into a 50 cover split level restaurant. The lessee was a regional winner at 
the Shine awards under the Customer Experience category. 



The Lounge
Formerly known as ‘Abariginals’, the site was an
Australian theme bar, in very poor condition
internally and externally, and with low barrelage.

After

Before

THE
LOUNGE
A NEW CONCEPT 
AND STYLE

The Lounge in Macclesfield has been developed as a contemporary bar
with a city centre feel, following extensive research and assessment of local
opportunities and competition.

Having identified the outlet for investment, the scheme was worked 
up on the basis that Macclesfield is an affluent area but lacking a stylish,
upmarket bar of the type that we have now developed with The Lounge.
The lessee had extensive experience of running this style of concept
elsewhere and now has a 20 year lease. 

The extensive work included moving the bar, involving some structural
alterations, which has significantly opened up the space. This has given 
The Lounge a light, airy feel which is complemented by hard floorings, 
new backfitting, good lighting and an excellent signage scheme.

Previously the outlet had a turnover of £1,000 to £1,800 per week. The
Lounge now has a turnover of between £10,000 to £12,000 per week. 95%
of this is wet and evening trade, and a food offer has now been introduced
which is expected to further build on The Lounge’s initial success. Despite
the fact that the site has only been trading since April 2004, expectations
are that barrelage will increase from a Moving Annual Total of around
70 barrels prior to the development to over 400 barrels subsequently.





Financial review
A year of strong achievements

Results for the year
The financial year covered 52 weeks to 21 August 2004, and is compared
in the financial statements to the 53 week period to 23 August 2003.
Growth in key profit elements over this period, before exceptional items,
was as follows:
£m 2004 2003 Growth

Turnover 637.6 429.0 49%
Gross profit 396.7 275.7 44%
Administration (57.3) (41.1)
Depreciation (11.4) (5.5)
Amortisation (4.8) (1.7)
Operating profit 323.2 227.4 42%
Profit on sale of assets – 2.5
Interest (166.8) (116.6)
Profit before tax 156.4 113.3 38%
Tax (34.9) (15.7)
Net earnings 121.5 97.6 24%
Note: excluding exceptional items, and profit on sale of assets:

EBITDA 339.4 234.6 45%
PBTA 161.2 112.5 43%
Exceptional items are set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

The results benefited from the acquisition of the Pubmaster business, 
which completed on 1 December 2003 and is included for 38 weeks of 
the financial year. Analysing EBITDA and comparing against a 52 week
comparative from 2003, the business results are as follows:

2004 Growth
2004 2004 Original 2003 excluding
Total Pubmaster Punch 52 weeks Pubmaster

Turnover 637.6 195.9 441.7 420.1 5%
Gross profit 396.7 110.2 286.5 269.9 6%
Administration 57.3 19.3 38.0 40.3 -6%
EBITDA 339.4 90.9 248.5 229.6 8%

Sources of turnover and gross profit
Each of our four sources of income demonstrate good growth on prior
year, with beer and rent continuing as the largest income streams. Sales
margin, represented by gross profit as a percentage of sales, is higher in the
original estate than Pubmaster.

Original estate Pubmaster2 Total
£m Growth1 £m £m

Turnover
Beer 268.0 4% 116.3 384.3
Rent 122.5 6% 40.1 162.6
Machine income 15.4 13% 8.6 24.0
Other 35.8 7% 30.9 66.7
Total 441.7 5% 195.9 637.6
Gross profit
Beer 137.9 5% 54.6 192.5
Rent 122.1 6% 40.1 162.2
Machine income 15.0 13% 8.6 23.6
Other 11.5 9% 6.9 18.4
Total 286.5 6% 110.2 396.7
Average gross margin 65% 56% 62%
Note:
1Growth is measured against a 52 week comparative for 2003
2Pubmaster other includes £13.8m of net turnover and £2.1m gross profit from GRS Inns, a small multiple
retailer subsidiary. 

Underlying growth
We measure like-for-like performance across all pubs which we have
owned for the last two years, thereby excluding only recent acquisitions.
This comprised 4,047 pubs at 21 August 2004, 92% of the original Punch
estate. Within this group, on a 52 week comparable basis, turnover growth
in the year was 2.9%, leading to pub profit contribution growth of 3.9%.

Within the original Punch estate as a whole, excluding Pubmaster only,
average EBITDA per pub (before exceptional items) rose by 8.7% in the
year on a comparable 52 week basis to £56k per annum. The average
EBITDA per pub in the Pubmaster estate is circa £42k per annum.

Punch Taverns plc
Annual report and financial statements 2004
www.punchtaverns.com

14/15

Robert McDonald
Finance Director

Turnover
£m

2002
2003*

2004

243
276

397

Gross profit
£m

Gross profit
£m

2002
2003*

2004

Beer Rent Machine
income

Other
sales

392

638

429

*relate to a 53 week period



Financial review
continued

Movements in the estate
The estate increased by 62% to 7,334 pubs by year end, of which 2,927
pubs have been retained from the Pubmaster estate. Besides Pubmaster, 
a further 80 individual pub acquisitions were made in the year, but there
were 376 disposals, 256 of which were sold to avoid local concentrations 
as a direct consequence of acquiring Pubmaster. The average number of
pubs during the year was 6,575, with the original Punch estate having on
average 4,425 pubs, 1% fewer than last year.

Pubmaster acquisition
On 1 December 2003 the Group acquired the entire share capital 
of Pubmistress Limited which operated an estate of 3,115 leased and
tenanted pubs trading under the Pubmaster name. This acquisition is
referred to uniquely within the financial statements under the heading
Acquisitions. The headline cost of £1,193m on a cash and debt free basis
included the assumption of £894.2m securitised debt; all other debt has
since been repaid.

The fair value adjustment includes a revaluation of assets and loans, and
gives rise to goodwill of £85.9m, which it is intended to amortise over 20
years, and of which £3.1m was charged in the period. The most significant
component in the revaluation was that relating to the securitised debt and
associated hedging instruments, which was valued £86.6m higher than 
the book value acquired; this will be written down over the life of the loans,
and gave rise to a credit within interest payable of £3.8m in the year. 

The Pubmaster business is now fully integrated with Punch.

Other acquisitions, disposals and investment
A further £48.7m was invested in the acquisition of 80 individual pubs
during the year, together with investment of £46.2m on existing pubs
within the estate and £5.0m on infrastructure. We continue to see excellent
returns on our pub investments and good opportunities to develop our
estate further. Of the £46.2m investment, £34.9m was spent on 580 profit
enhancing projects (including 74 from the Pubmaster estate), generating 
a first year pre tax ROI of 29%.

During the year we sold a total of 376 pubs raising net proceeds of £75.6m.
Of these, 256 were sold as an immediate consequence of the Pubmaster
acquisition – these raised £53.9m net proceeds but generated a book loss 
of £12.0m, which is recorded as an exceptional item due to the unique
circumstances of the sale. The remaining 120 disposals were generally 
sold for alternative use at a price very close to book value.

Revaluation of the estate
In line with our policy of rolling estate revaluation over a five year period,
877 pubs were revalued by DTZ in 2004 and yielded a surplus of £84.7m 
(20%) over book value. This has been accounted for through reserves.

Borrowings and interest cost
Total borrowings for the Group at 21 August 2004 were £2,800.4m, net 
of £73.0m of cash collateralised loans. Net debt, recognising cash held
within the business of £165.3m, was £2,635.1m, an increase of £1,185.3m
over prior year primarily due to the Pubmaster acquisition.

The majority of borrowings are held in two securitisation structures, being
Punch Taverns Finance and Pubmaster Finance. Punch Taverns Finance 
was restructured early in the year to combine with Punch Funding II and
raise additional leverage of £265m. Other borrowings are revolving bank
facilities secured on the value of recent pub acquisitions; at 21 August 2004
just £13.7m was drawn down against facilities of over £225m. The Group
additionally had a £50m unsecured facility at year end which had been
established to provide short term finance to assist with the Pubmaster
acquisition, however there were no drawings under this facility at 
21 August 2004.
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THE PUBMASTER 
BUSINESS IS NOW 

FULLY
INTEGRATED
WITH
PUNCH
Goodwill resulting on acquisition

August
2004

£m

Net cost of investment 223.8
Less: net assets of Pubmistress 

at acquisition 34.7
fair value adjustments 103.2

Goodwill 85.9



Interest costs on each tranche of the securitised debt are fixed for their life,
either directly or using hedging instruments, and currently average 7.1%.
Net interest costs during the year totalled £166.8m (before exceptional
items), and were covered 2.0 times by earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items of £23.1m (£19.0m post tax) were incurred in the year 
to 21 August 2004. These arose from the refinancing activity to merge 
two securitisation structures and from the integration of Pubmaster and
associated disposals. Details of these costs are provided in note 4 to the
financial statements.

Taxation
The overall tax charge of £30.8m represented 23% of pre-tax profit, or
22% on a pre-exceptional basis (prior year 14%), and continues to benefit
from the utilisation of tax losses brought forward from prior years. As these
losses are used up, it is expected that the tax charge will gravitate to a
standard 30% corporation tax rate over the next two years.

Tax paid in the year was £4.4m.

Earnings per share
The basic earnings per share of 41.2p (diluted 40.3p) includes the cost of
exceptional items. On an adjusted basis (excluding exceptionals), earnings
per share were 48.8p, an increase of 24% over the prior year.

The growth in earnings per share was impacted by the rising tax charge as
previous tax losses are used up. On a tax neutral basis (ie. assuming the
same effective tax rate for both years), growth in adjusted earnings per
share would have been 38%.

Dividend
The Board has recommended a final dividend payment for the year of 6.1p
per ordinary share, increasing the full year dividend to 9.0p (prior year 6.5p),
a growth of 38%.

The cost of this dividend is covered 4.6 times by post tax earnings in the
year, or 4.9 times on a fully taxed pre-exceptional basis.

Accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies during the year. 

The group is working towards the adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), which will first be reported for the year ending
August 2006.

It is currently too early to quantify the impact of adopting IFRS on the
Group’s results and financial position. The key areas currently identified 
that affect the Group financial statements under IFRS are in respect of 
fixed assets, hedge accounting, accounting for business combinations
(including the accounting treatment of goodwill), taxation, pensions and
share-based payments. 

Post balance sheet acquisition of InnSpired
On 10 September 2004 the Group completed the acquisition of InnSpired 
Group Limited, which owned 1,064 pubs, for a headline cost of £335m
incorporating £239m of securitised debt. Consequent to, and shortly after
the acquisition, 88 pubs were sold to Admiral Taverns for £22.6m, including
51 from the InnSpired estate.

On 21 October 2004 the Group agreed terms to redeem the fixed rate
component of the InnSpired securitisation and announced plans to redeem
the remaining securitisation notes, to be replaced initially by short term
borrowing. This redemption was achieved in full by 22 November 2004.

EARNINGS PER SHARE*

INCREASED
BY 24%
*pre exceptional items

Borrowings and interest cost
2004 2003

Securitised debt:
Punch Taverns Finance 1,808.9 730.4
Punch Funding II – 717.3
Pubmaster Finance 977.8 –

Other borrowings 13.7 106.6
Cash (165.3) (104.5)
Net debt 2,635.1 1,449.8
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Giles Thorley/Chief Executive
Giles Thorley, 37, was appointed Chief Executive of Punch in January 2003, having joined
Punch as Executive Chairman in December 2001. A qualified barrister, Giles attended the
University of London and the Inns of Court School of Law, before joining Nomura in 1990
where he specialised in property finance. In 1994 he became a founder member of the
Principal Finance Group and was involved in a number of transactions, most notably the pub
related acquisitions of Phoenix Inns, Inntrepreneur Pub Company Limited and Spring Inns.
Between 1998 and 2001 he was Chief Executive of Unique Pub Company increasing the
business from 2,600 pubs to over 4,000 during his tenure. After joining Punch in 2001, 
he led the company through a demerger culminating in an IPO of Punch in May 2002.

Phil Cox/Chairman
Phil Cox, 54, was appointed Non-executive Chairman of Punch in January 2003 having joined
Punch as Non-executive Deputy Chairman in May 2002. He is also a Director of Allders Plc.
Prior to his appointment with Punch, he was Chairman of Virgin Rail from January until
October 1998, and was Finance Director of Asda Group from 1992 to 1998. He was also 
Non-executive Director of Kelda (Yorkshire Water) from 1998 to 2000. He was previously
Finance Director and Chief Executive of The Burns Anderson Group and Horne Brothers Plc. 

Robert McDonald/Finance Director
Robert McDonald, 49, was appointed Finance Director of Punch Taverns in April 2002, shortly
before flotation, having held the position of Finance Director of the leased and tenanted
division of Punch Group since 1999. He first joined the industry in 1982, and worked in
various roles for Allied Domecq, most recently as Finance Director of Allied Domecq Inns
from 1995 until that company was acquired by Punch in 1999. He is a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants.

Jonathan Paveley/Commercial Director
Jonathan Paveley, 41, was appointed Commercial Director with effect from May 2004. He
joined the Group from Greene King, where he was Strategy Director, responsible for corporate
and commercial strategy and purchasing. During the eight years Jonathan spent with Greene
King (1996 – 2004) he initiated the strategic change programme which redirected its
strategy, rationalised the company’s infrastructure and created the company’s three operating
divisions. He also led the team which acquired and integrated the Morland business in 1999-
2000 and played key roles in the successful purchases of the Magic Pub Company (1996) and
Old English Inns (2001) among others. He joined the Punch Taverns Board in September 2004.

Adrian Fawcett /Chief Operating Officer
Adrian Fawcett, 36, was appointed Chief Operating Officer with effect from August 2003. 
He joined the Group from Interbrew where he was Corporate Vice President of the Belgian
brewer, globally responsible for business integration of both Interbrew’s operational businesses
and the group’s M&A activity. Adrian spent six years at Bass Brewers from 1996 to 2001.
During this time he held a number of roles culminating in his position as Group Managing
Director of Bass Brewers Operating Companies where he led Bass’s UK Operating Companies
through the period of its sale to Interbrew and the subsequent restructuring and divestment 
of Carling to Coors Brewers in 2002. Prior to this, Adrian held general management roles with
both Mars and Ford. He joined the Punch Taverns Board in January 2004.



Peter Cawdron/Independent Non-executive Director
Peter Cawdron, 61, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director of Punch in May
2003. He retired from the Board of Grand Metropolitan plc in 1997, where he had held the
position of Group Strategy Director for 10 years and Group Planning Director for 4 years.
Previously, he had spent 7 years in the United States as Chief Financial Officer of D’Arcy
MacManus & Masius Worldwide, Inc., the international advertising agency business based in
New York, and 7 years at S.G.Warburg & Co. Ltd in London. He qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1966 at Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. He is also the Chairman of Capital Radio
plc and a Non-executive Director of a number of companies, including Compass Group plc,
ARM Holdings plc, Capita Group plc and Johnston Press plc.

Mike Foster/Independent Non-executive Director
Mike Foster, 59, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director of Punch with effect 
from May 2002. Prior to his appointment he was Chief Executive of Inntrepreneur Estates 
from 1995 until 1998, Chief Executive of Courage Limited from 1987 until 1995, Chairman 
of Leisurelink Ltd from 1998 until its sale in 2001, Chairman of the British Pub & Beer
Association from 1998 until 2001 and Non-executive Director of Geest from 1993 until
1999. He currently has three other Non-executive Directorships: W H Brakspear & Sons,
Roxton Bailey Robinson Ltd and Innserve Ltd.

Ian Fraser/Independent Non-executive Director
Ian Fraser, 47, has been appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director, from
September 2004. He is currently Chief Operating Officer of Orange UK, having previously
been Trading Director of Safeway Stores plc. He is also a Non-executive Director of
Blueheath Holdings plc.

Randl Shure /Independent Non-executive Director
Randl Shure, 40, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director of Punch in October
1999. Prior to founding CapVest he was head of BT Capital Partners which he joined in 1997
after working for 12 years with Bankers Trust. He was a director of the original Punch Taverns
Limited, formed for the acquisition of the Bass portfolio. He previously served as a director of
Virgin Rail and is currently a director of Young’s Bluecrest Limited, Spirit Group Holdings
Limited, Vaasan & Vaasan OY, IP Powerhouse and Ubiquity.

Fritz Ternofsky/Senior Independent Non-executive Director
Fritz Ternofsky, 60, was appointed Senior Independent Non-executive Director of Punch 
in May 2002. He was previously a member of the board of Compass from 1988 to 1999, 
also serving as Chief Executive for UK and Scandinavia from 1993 to 1999. He is currently 
a Non-executive Director of Exel plc, Care UK plc and Non-executive Chairman of
UK.explorer.com. He is also Chairman of Close Income & Growth VCT PLC, Chairman 
of Kew Green Hotels and a Director of Dolphin Nurseries Ltd.

Martin Glenn/Independent Non-executive Director
Martin Glenn, 44, has been appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director from
September 2004. He is currently President of all Pepsico’s interests in UK and Ireland, having
worked within the group since 1992 in various sales and marketing roles. He previously
worked for Mars and Coopers & Lybrand.
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Deborah Kemp /Property & Development Director
Deborah Kemp, 43, has responsibility for three key strategic areas of the business. Firstly 
in maximising the profitability of the property portfolio through innovative and appropriate
investment schemes which optimise returns for Punch and its retailers. Secondly achieving
growth through selective acquisitions, and thirdly the effective property management of the
pub portfolio, including delivery of rental growth and lease renewals and the identification 
of opportunities for alternative property development or disposals. Her property experiences
range from general private practice to the licensed retail business. Deborah joined Punch
Taverns in 1998 as Director of Investment, prior to which she gained invaluable operational
experience as a Business Director with Bass Lease Company. Her qualifications include a BSc
(Hons) Urban Estate Surveying degree. 

Francis Patton /Customer Services Director
Francis Patton, 41, is responsible for the Company’s relationships with our key stakeholders;
retailers, shareholders, employees, the media, the city and our suppliers. This is done through
the management of Human Resources, external agents for PR/IR, internal communication and
retailer relationships. His role also encompasses retailer sales and query resolution through
telesales and the help desks. When Punch Pub Company was formed he became Commercial
Director and as the Company grew this role was split into Commercial and Customer Services
with him taking up his new role as Customer Services Director in June 2003. Francis has years
of hands on industry experience. A graduate who joined Joshua Tetley in 1985, Francis gained
extensive experience in operational roles with The Tetley Pub Company before becoming
Commercial Director of Vanguard Pubs and Restaurants, the leasing section of Allied Domecq.

Neil Preston/Company Secretary
Neil Preston, 44, is responsible for ensuring that the company meets all our legal and
regulatory requirements as a PLC. He is a Fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants and has held various roles within Punch, including that of the Finance Director 
of Punch Group and Punch Retail (now known as Spirit Group following the demerger in
March 2002). Prior to this he worked for Allied Domecq and started in the industry in 1986.

Andrew Thompson/Operations Director
Andrew Thompson, 52, is responsible for implementing the operational elements of the
Company’s strategy consistently through Regional Operational Directors. This involves
developing and implementing business plans based on growth opportunities, maximising
profit streams of sales margins, rental and machine income, controlling operational costs and
implementing annual investment and acquisition plans. Andrew has 30 years’ experience
in the licensed retailing sector and before becoming Operations Director (North) was Regional
Director for Punch Taverns and Retail Director of Bass plc.

Bill Walker/Operations Director
Bill Walker, 43, shares responsibility with Andrew Thompson for implementing the operational
elements of the Company’s strategy consistently through a team of Regional Operational
Directors. Bill was appointed Operations Director (South) of the Group in March 2002. He has
over twenty years experience in retailing. Prior to joining the Group he had held the position
of Retail Operations Director at First Quench Retailing Ltd, a division of Whitbread plc, since
March 1998. Prior to this appointment, he was a General Manager with overall responsibility
for the Spanish operations of Sears plc based in Madrid.
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The Directors present their report and financial statements for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2004.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the period are set out in the Group Profit and Loss Account on page 40. An interim dividend of 2.9p per
share was paid to shareholders on 5 July 2004. The Directors propose a final dividend of 6.1p per share payable on 28 January 2005.
This will bring the total dividend for the year to 9.0p per share.

Principal activity and review of the business
The Group’s main trading activities are the operation of public houses. The Group’s customers are its lessees and tenants (known
as ‘retailers’), who enter into a lease or tenancy agreement with the Group to operate pubs. Through these agreements, the
Group generates its income from three primary sources: sale of beer and other products to retailers, rent from retailers, and profit
sharing arrangements with retailers for income from leisure machines. Each of the Group’s pubs is managed and operated by its
retailer, enabling each pub to retain its distinct character.

A review of the year’s activities and future developments is included in the Strategic and Operational Review and the
Financial Review.

Directors and their interests
The current Directors of the Company are listed on pages 18 to 19. Cornel Riklin resigned from the Board on 15 December 2003 
and Marc Jonas resigned from the Board on 22 September 2004.

The beneficial interests of Directors who held office at 21 August 2004 in the share capital of the Company are shown below.
At 1 December At 21 August At 23 August

2004* 2004 2003**
Ord shares Ord shares Ord shares

Phil Cox 16,146 266,146 266,146
Giles Thorley 145,472 138,044 137,750
Robert McDonald 55,347 47,203 46,909
Mike Foster 4,275 4,275 4,275
Marc Jonas1 n/a 50,000 50,000
Randl Shure 93,037 93,037 93,037
Fritz Ternofsky 12,837 22,837 21,000
Peter Cawdron 4,850 4,850 0
Adrian Fawcett2 6,464 3,256 0
Jonathan Paveley 1,031 n/a n/a
Martin Glenn 0 n/a n/a
Ian Fraser 0 n/a n/a
*includes for the Executive Directors, share awards made under the Deferred Share Bonus plan details of which are shown on pages 29 and 35.
**or date of appointment, if later. 1resigned 22 September 2004. 2appointed 15 January 2004.

Since the year end there have been the following changes to the Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company:

On 12 November 2004 Phil Cox sold 250,000 Ordinary shares at a price of £5.74 per share.

On 15 November 2004 Fritz Ternofsky sold 10,000 Ordinary shares at a price of £5.72 share.

On 15 November 2004 Robert McDonald exercised options over 78,181 shares at an exercise price of £1.92 per share and 67,181
shares at £2.05 per share. 141,362 of the resulting shares were later sold at a price of £5.60 per share. Following this transaction
Robert McDonald has options remaining over 175,288 Ordinary shares in the Company. 

None of the Directors has any interests in the shares of any other company in the Group.

Martin Glenn, Jonathan Paveley and Ian Fraser were all appointed as Directors of the Company on 22 September 2004. 

Having been appointed a Director since the last Annual General Meeting, the appointments of Adrian Fawcett, Martin Glenn,
Jonathan Paveley and Ian Fraser will cease and resolutions proposed for their election at this year’s general meeting. 
Robert McDonald and Phil Cox retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.

A statement of the Directors’ remuneration and their interest in share options of the Company is set out in the Report on
Directors’ Remuneration on pages 27 to 37.



Substantial shareholdings
As at 1 December 2004, the last practical date prior to the printing of this report, the Company has been notified of the following
substantial interests (representing 3% or more) in the Ordinary shares of the Company.
■ AXA SA, 12.08%
■ Henderson Global Investors, 9.91%
■ Fidelity, 7.09%
■ Lansdowne Partners Limited Partnership, 4.05%
■ Goldman Sachs Group, 3.92%
■ M&G Investments, 3.20%
■ Legal & General Investment Management Ltd, 3.00%

Political and charitable contributions
During the year the Group made charitable contributions of £6,600 (2003: £1,000). The Group made no political contributions.

Disabled employees
The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the requirements of the job can 
be adequately fulfilled by handicapped or disabled persons. Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy
wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career
development and promotion wherever appropriate.

The environment
The Group regards compliance with relevant environmental laws and the adoption of responsible standards as integral to its business
operation. It is also committed to introducing measures to limit any adverse effects its business may have on the environment and
will promote continuous improvement in accordance with best available techniques.

Employee involvement
The total number of employees at the end of the period was 530. The Group recognises the value of its employees and seeks to
create an energetic, dynamic and responsive environment in which to work. It places considerable importance on communications
with employees which take place at many levels through the organisation on both a formal and informal level.

Employees are encouraged to own shares in the Company and the Group operates a SAYE Share Option Scheme, in which
127 employees participate. Employees enter into a savings contract for either three or five years at the end of which they are entitled
to purchase shares at a discount of 20% to the market price of the shares at the time the savings contract commenced.

In June 2004 the Group launched an Inland Revenue Approved Share Incentive Plan, in which 289 employees in total participate.
Employees purchase shares either as a one off amount or on a monthly basis, these are then held in trust for a period of three years
at which point the company matches the total number of shares purchased. Under the Inland Revenue approved scheme after a
period of five years (ie a further two years) the shares are released to the employee free of tax and National Insurance.

Subsequently Punch has won the award for the Most Effective Communication of an Employee Share Plan (Non FTSE 100 Company
– under 10,000 employees) at the annual Proshare Awards.

Creditor payment policy and practice
It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with those terms and conditions agreed between the
company and its suppliers, provided that all trading terms and conditions have been complied with.

At 21 August 2004 the Company had Nil (2003: Nil) days purchases outstanding in trade creditors.

Post balance sheet events
On 10 September 2004, the Group acquired InnSpired Group Limited, which operates 1,064 leased and tenanted pubs throughout
England and Wales, further details are provided in note 31 to the financial statements.

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s auditors will be put to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Going concern
The Directors consider that the Company has adequate resources to remain in operation for the foreseeable future and have
therefore continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparation of the financial statements.

By order of the Board of Directors

Neil Preston
Company Secretary
1 December 2004
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Throughout the year and to the date of this Annual Report the Company has been in compliance with the applicable provisions 
of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance adopted in 1998.

Although the Company is not required to comply with the revised Combined Code, published in July 2003 and annexed to the
Listing Rules, the Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance, for which the Board is responsible to the
Company’s shareholders. Therefore, the Board has taken steps to implement the provisions of the revised Code and in this report
it provides details of how the principles and supporting principles of the revised Code are being applied.

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance. All Committee Terms of Reference and a Statement of
Corporate Governance can therefore be found on the Company’s web site at www.punchtaverns.com or are available from the
Company Secretary on request. 

What are the responsibilities of the Board of Directors?
The Board sets the Company’s strategic aims and ensures that necessary resources are in place in order for the Company to meet its
objectives. All members of the Board take collective responsibility for the performance of the Company and all decisions are taken
objectively and in the interest of the Company.

The Board is responsible for satisfying itself as to the integrity of financial information and the effectiveness of the Company’s system
of internal control and risk management processes and is responsible for ensuring that the Company’s obligations to its shareholders
are met.

Whilst the Board has delegated the normal operational management of the Company to the Executive Directors and other senior
management it has established guidelines requiring specific matters to be subject to decision by the full Board of Directors, including
material acquisitions and disposals, investments and capital projects. The Non-executive Directors have a particular responsibility to
challenge constructively the strategy proposed by the Chief Executive and Executive Directors; to scrutinise and challenge performance;
to satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and that financial controls are robust and defensible; to ensure appropriate
remuneration and that succession planning arrangements are in place in relation to Executive Directors and other senior members
of the management team. 

How frequently are Board meetings held?
At least ten Board meetings are scheduled during the year and additional meetings are convened to consider matters that are 
time-critical. The attendance records of individual directors can be found in the table below. The Chairman ensures that, at least
annually, the Non-executives meet without the Executive directors present.

Attendance at meetings
The attendance by individual directors at meetings of the Board and its Committees during the past year was as follows:

Board meetings Committee meetings
Director Monthly Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number of meetings 11 4 2 0
Phil Cox1 10 12 2 0
Giles Thorley 11 – – –
Robert McDonald 11 – – –
Adrian Fawcett (appointed 15/01/04) 6 – – –
Fritz Ternofsky 10 3 2 –
Peter Cawdron 9 32 – 0
Mike Foster3 10 4 1 0
Randl Shure 9 2 – –
Marc Jonas 10 – – 0
Cornel Riklin (resigned 15/12/03) 3 – – –
1Martin Glenn replaced Phil Cox as a member of the Remuneration Committee on 17 November 2004. 
2Peter Cawdron replaced Phil Cox as Chairman of the Audit Committee on 15 October 2003 and both therefore attended all meetings required. 
3Ian Fraser replaced Mike Foster as a member of the Audit Committee on 17 November 2004. 

What are the responsibilities of the Chairman and Chief Executive?
There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and Chief Executive which has been formally documented and
approved by the Board. 

The Chairman is responsible for:
■ leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda; 
■ ensuring, through the Company Secretary that the members of the Board receive clear, accurate and timely information; 
■ arranging the regular evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors; and
■ facilitating the effective contribution of Non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and 

Non-executive Directors.
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The Chief Executive is responsible for:
■ developing strategic operating plans;
■ preparing annual budgets and medium term projections for the Company and closely monitoring performance against plans and

budgets;
■ ensuring effective communication with shareholders; and 
■ overseeing the day to day management of the Company.

How is the Board structured to ensure that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the Board’s 
decision making?
The Board is considered to be of sufficient size such that the balance of skills and experience is appropriate to the size of the
business. The Board is balanced by a strong Non-executive element and at least half of the Board, excluding the Chairman, are
considered by the Board to be independent in character and judgement and have no relationships or circumstances that are likely
to affect, or could appear to affect their judgement as directors of the Company. The Board have reviewed the provisions in the
revised Combined Code and have concluded that, under the definitions used, four of the current Non-executive Directors are
independent and one, Marc Jonas, is not as he was previously employed as an executive director of the Company.

The Board have appointed Fritz Ternofsky as its Senior Independent Non-executive Director and, on appointment, the Chairman was
considered by the Board to meet all of the independence criteria set out in the Combined Code.

How are directors appointed to the Board?
The Company has a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors. The Nominations Committee
leads the process for board appointments and for succession planning and makes recommendations to the Board. New directors
stand for election at the AGM following their appointment. Every director is required to retire by rotation, and may stand for 
re-election if nominated by the Nomination Committee, at least every third year. 

During the year one executive, Adrian Fawcett, was promoted to the Board and since the year end one executive, Jonathan Paveley,
has been promoted to the Board and two Non-executive Directors have been appointed to the Board; all appointments were made
on merit and against objective criteria. The Non-executive appointments are considered by the Board to meet all of the independence
criteria set out in the revised Combined Code. Marc Jonas retired from the Board during the year.

None of the full time Executive directors have more than one Non-executive directorship in a FTSE 100 company nor the
chairmanship of such a company.

The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-executive Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office
during normal business hours. 

What information is provided to the Board?
To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors are given appropriate documentation in advance of each Board meeting.
This normally includes a detailed report on current trading and full papers on matters where the Board will be required to make
a decision or give its approval.

What is the role of the Company Secretary?
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Board and its Committees.

The Directors, each of whom has received appropriate training, have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
who is responsible for advising the Board, through the Chairman, on all governance matters. 

The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring that board procedures are followed, that applicable rules and regulations
are complied with and that there are good information flows within the Board, its Committees and between the Non-executive
Directors and senior management.

The Company Secretary facilitates the induction and professional development of Board members who are available to meet major
shareholders if requested.

How is the performance of the Board evaluated?
During the year the Board undertook a formal evaluation of its own performance and that of its committees and individual directors.
The Board considered that the best means of effectively undertaking this process was a combination of self and peer assessment.
This process was led by the Chairman except in relation to his own performance as Chairman which was led by the Senior
Independent Director. The results of the review were discussed by the Board and an appropriate action plan was agreed.
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What are the Company’s main internal controls?
The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of internal control and risk management and for reviewing the effectiveness 
of those systems. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve the Company’s strategic
objectives. It should be recognised that such systems can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Combined Code requires the Directors to review the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal
controls. This relates to all controls, covering financial, operational, compliance and risk management matters.

The Company has on-going processes for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group in the form
of a Company Risk Register which is reviewed and updated by the Board regularly as required. The processes are in accordance with
the guidance of the Turnbull Committee, and have been in place for the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report.

The key procedures which the Directors have established with a view to providing effective internal control are as follows:
■ Regular Board meetings to consider a schedule of matters reserved for Directors’ consideration.
■ An annual review of corporate strategy, which includes a review of risks facing the business.
■ A risk management process (Company Risk Register) which identifies the key risks facing the business and how these risks are

monitored and managed on an ongoing basis.
■ An established organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority.
■ A review procedure for organisational restructuring following Company acquisitions.
■ Documented and enforced policies and procedures.
■ Appointment of staff of the necessary calibre to fulfil their allotted responsibilities.
■ Comprehensive budgets and forecasts, approved by the Board, reviewed and revised on a regular basis, with performance

monitored against them and explanations obtained for material variances.
■ A detailed investment approval process, requiring Board approval for major projects. Post investment appraisals are conducted 

and are reviewed by the Board.
■ An Audit Committee of the Board, comprising Non-executive Directors, which considers significant financial control matters 

as appropriate.
■ An internal audit function which performs continuous assessments of the quality and effectiveness of risk management and control.
■ Regular reporting by the Audit Committee to the Board of Directors regarding internal audit and control up-dates.
■ Documented fraud and whistle blowing policies and procedures and regular review of current whistle blowing regulations.
■ Reporting of accounting policies and accounting and legal developments to the Board.
■ Review of treasury policies and activities by the Audit Committee.
■ An established programme of management and staff development and succession planning.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control during the year, taking account of any
material developments which have taken place since the year end. The review was carried out through the monitoring process 
set out above. In the opinion of the Board the review did not indicate that the system was ineffective or unsatisfactory.

What is the role of the Audit Committee?
The Audit Committee is made up of Peter Cawdron (Chairman), Ian Fraser, Randl Shure and Fritz Ternofsky and meets at least three
times per annum. Senior management, including the Finance Director and internal and external auditors attend for part or all of
each meeting. The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and its Chairman. All of the
members of the Audit Committee are independent Non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee considers all matters relating to internal control and reporting, internal and external audits, the scope and
results of the audits, the independence and objectivity of the auditors and establishes that an effective system of internal financial
control is maintained.

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for making a recommendation on the appointment or re-appointment of the
external auditors. In order to maintain the independence of the external auditors, the Board has determined policies as to what
non-audit services can be provided by the Company’s external auditors and the approval processes related to them. Under those
policies work of a consultancy nature will not be offered to the external auditors unless there are clear efficiencies and value added
benefits to the Company. The Audit Committee monitors the level of non-audit fees paid to the external auditors.

During the year and to the date of this report the work of the Audit Committee has included consideration of the following matters:
■ the financial statements in the 2003 and 2004 Annual Report and Financial Statements, and the interim report issued in April 2004.

As part of this review the Committee received reports from the external auditors in relation to the 2003 and 2004 final audits and
the 2004 interim review;

■ the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;
■ the recommendation of the reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the external auditors and the approval of the 2004 external

audit plan and fee proposal;
■ evaluation of the performance of the external auditors;
■ the progress of the internal audit programme and matters arising and the effectiveness and workload of the internal audit

department and the adequacy of available resource;
■ the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls; and
■ the Company’s whistle blowing procedures.
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What is the role of the Nominations Committee?
The Nominations Committee is made up of Mike Foster (Chairman), Philip Cox and Peter Cawdron and meetings are held as
deemed necessary by the Chairman of the Committee. The majority of the Nominations Committee members, including the
Committee Chairman, are independent Non-executive Directors.

The Nominations Committee considers all matters relating to the structure, size and composition of the Board and makes necessary
recommendations to the Board with regard to adjustments and new appointments where deemed necessary. The Committee
considers the mix of skills and experiences that the Board requires and seeks the appointment of directors to meet its assessment
of what is required to ensure that the Board is effective in discharging its responsibilities.

What is the role of the Remuneration Committee?
The Remuneration Committee is made up of Fritz Ternofsky (Chairman), Martin Glenn and Mike Foster and meets at least twice 
a year and at such other times as the Chairman of the Committee deems necessary. All of the members of the Remuneration
Committee are independent Non-executive Directors. The Chairman, Chief Executive and other directors may be invited to attend
meetings as considered appropriate by the Remuneration Committee. 

The Remuneration Committee will consider all material elements of the remuneration policy, remuneration and incentives of
Executive Directors and senior management to ensure that remuneration is sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors of the
quality required to run the company successfully; however is not in excess of what is necessary for this purpose. This is performed
with reference to independent remuneration research and professional advice, which is provided by Halliwell Consulting, in
accordance with the Combined Code. The Remuneration Committee will then recommend to the Board on the framework for
executive remuneration and its cost. The Board is then responsible for implementing the recommendations and agreeing the
remuneration packages of individual directors. The Directors are not permitted, under articles, to vote on their own terms and
condition of remuneration. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for preparation of the Report on Directors’ Remuneration
which forms part of this Annual Report and can be found on pages 27 to 38.

How does the Company communicate with shareholders?
Communications with shareholders are given high priority and the Company aims to provide as much information as is commercially
sensible to both existing and potential investors, recognising that transparency is the best way to develop understanding of the
Company’s strategy, performance and growth potential. The Company encourages two-way communication with both its
institutional and private shareholders and responds quickly to all enquiries. There is a regular dialogue with institutional shareholders
as well as presentations after the Company’s preliminary announcement of the year end results and at the half year.

The Board uses the Annual General Meetings to communicate with private and institutional investors and welcomes their participation.
It is our policy for all Directors to attend the AGM whenever possible. The Chairman aims to ensure that the Chairmen of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees and the Senior Independent Non-executive Director are available at the AGM and are
available to answer relevant questions. The Chairman also writes to the top 20 major shareholders on an annual basis inviting them
to correspond with the Non-executive Board of Directors if they so wish. 



Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with The Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, (‘the Regulations’). The
auditors are required to report on the ‘auditable’ part of this report and to state whether, in their opinion, that part of the report has
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 (as amended by the Regulations). The report is therefore
divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited information.

The Board has reviewed the Group’s compliance with the Combined Code (‘the Code’) on remuneration related matters. It is the
opinion of the Board that the group complied with all remuneration related aspects of the Code during the year.

Unaudited information

Remuneration Committee
Your Board believes that a properly constituted Remuneration Committee is key to ensuring that the Company’s policy on Executive
Directors’ remuneration supports the creation of enhanced shareholder value. The Board has therefore delegated to the Board’s
Remuneration Committee the assessment and recommendation of a broad policy on executive remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee of the Board comprised of Fritz Ternofsky (Chairman), Phil Cox and Mike Foster all of whom are 
Non-executive Directors and all served throughout the year ended 21 August 2004. Since the year end Martin Glenn has replaced
Phil Cox on the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee members have no personal financial interest other than 
as shareholders in matters to be decided, no potential conflicts of interest arising from cross directorships and no day-to-day
involvement in running the business. The Committee determines the remuneration and benefits packages for Executive Directors
and any changes to their service contracts, as well as the remuneration of Senior Group Executives. The Committee also approves
any share incentive and performance bonus arrangements. 

The Remuneration Committee, which has formal written terms of reference, has been delegated responsibility by the Board to: 
■ determine and agree with the Board the framework and broad policy for the remuneration of the Executive Directors and Senior

Group Executives of the Company; the remuneration of Non-executive Directors is a matter for the Executive Directors who take
advice from the independent consultants. No Director or Executive is involved in any decisions as to their own remuneration;

■ determine, within the terms of the agreed policy, the total individual remuneration package of each Executive Director
including, where appropriate, bonuses, benefits, long-term incentive payments and share options;

■ determine the policy for and scope of pension arrangements for each Executive Director;
■ determine targets for any performance-related pay and share schemes operated by the Company;
■ give due regard, in determining such packages and arrangements, to the comments and recommendations of the Code as

well as the UK Listing Authority’s Listing Rules and associated guidance;
■ ensure that contractual terms on termination, and any payments made, are fair to the individual and the Company, that 

failure is not rewarded and that the duty to mitigate loss is fully recognised, in line with the statement of best practice in the
ABI Guidelines;

■ ensure that provisions regarding disclosure of remuneration, including pensions, as set out in the Regulations and the Code,
are fulfilled;

■ be aware of and advise on any major changes in employee benefit structures throughout the Group;
■ be exclusively responsible for establishing the selection criteria, and for selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference

for any remuneration consultants who advise the Committee;
■ meet as required during the year and at least twice a year; and
■ report the frequency of, and attendance by members at, Remuneration Committee meetings in the annual report.

The Remuneration Committee appointed and received wholly independent advice on executive compensation and share schemes,
from Halliwell Consulting and associated share scheme administration. No other services were provided to the Company by Halliwell
Consulting during the year. 

In determining Executive Directors’ and Senior Group Executives’ remuneration for the year, the Remuneration Committee
consulted with the Chief Executive, Giles Thorley. No Executive played a part in any discussion about his own remuneration. 
The Company Secretary, Neil Preston, was available to provide advice to the members of the Remuneration Committee when
required. The Remuneration Committee met formally twice during the year.

Remuneration policy overview
The Remuneration Committee’s policy is to set the main elements of the remuneration package at the following quartiles in
comparison to the Company’s Comparator Group:

Base salary Annual bonus potential Pension Benefits in kind Share incentives
Median Upper Quartile Lower Quartile to Median Market Practice Upper Quartile

This new policy was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 15 January 2004 and has been first operated in 2004. The objective
of the remuneration policy is to provide remuneration packages that will retain talented people in the business, enable the recruitment
of appropriately skilled and experienced newcomers and be seen as competitive in the markets in which the Company operates. 
The Remuneration Committee believes that shareholders’ interests are best served by remuneration packages having a large emphasis
on performance-related pay. It is therefore the aim of the Remuneration Committee to encourage and reward superior performance
by Executives. 
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Robert McDonald – FD

It should be noted that the real value received by the Executive Directors under the share incentive arrangements will be dependent
upon the degree to which the associated performance conditions have been satisfied at the end of the three year performance
period and the share price of the Company at that time.

For the purposes of benchmarking remuneration during 2003/04 the Remuneration Committee used the following comparator
group of companies which constitute the FTSE 350 Leisure and Hotels Index:
Carnival plc Manchester United plc
De Vere Group plc Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc
Enterprise Inns plc Mitchells & Butlers plc
First Choice Holidays plc Rank Group plc
Greene King plc Stanley Leisure plc
Hilton Group plc Wetherspoon (JD) plc
Holidaybreak plc Whitbread plc
Intercontinental Hotels Group plc William Hill plc
Luminar plc Wolverhampton & Dudley Breweries plc

The basis of the selection of this Comparator Group was: 
■ companies with related businesses to the Company; 
■ companies of a comparable size to the Company; 
■ companies with the similar types of operation to the Company; and
■ companies competing for the same pool of executive talent.

The Remuneration Committee, with input from the Executive Directors, continually reviews the Comparator Group for its
appropriateness to the current stage of the Company’s development and market factors generally. In light of the Company’s growth
since flotation and the acquisitions of Pubmaster and InnSpired the Remuneration Committee has changed the Comparator
Group for 2004/05 to include only those companies that are members of the FTSE 350 Leisure and Hotels Index and are one 
of the 250 largest (as measured by market capitalisation) companies listed on the London Stock Exchange. These are in bold 
in the table above.

The Remuneration Committee reviews the policy on an annual basis to ensure that it is in line with the Company’s objectives and
shareholders’ interests. In addition, the life of the Punch Taverns plc Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Punch Taverns plc Deferred
Share Bonus Plan approved by shareholders at the AGM on 15 January 2004 is five years requiring the Company to revert to
shareholders for a formal approval at the end of this period for any future arrangements.

The charts below demonstrate the balance between fixed and variable performance based pay for each Executive Director:

Other than the Chief Executive, the Executive Directors do not have any external appointments as directors of other companies. 
The Chief Executive is a Non-executive Director of Ducati Holding S.p.A.

The main elements of these packages and the performance conditions are described on page 29. 

Key
Fixed compensation
is calculated as:
– salary
– pension
– benefits

Performance compensation
is calculated as:
– bonus available
– face value of LTIP 

on grant
– fair value of options 

on grant 

66%

34%

■ Performance compensation
■ Fixed compensation

73%

27%

Giles Thorley – CEO

66%

34%

Adrian Fawcett – COO
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Elements of Executive Directors’ Remuneration

Basic Salary
Policy: Median
The Remuneration Committee reviewed the Executive Directors’ salaries in October 2004 and provided the rises set out in the
table below:

Salary Salary Percentage
Name 2003/04 2004/05 rise

Giles Thorley (Chief Executive) £328,500 £350,000 6.5%
Robert McDonald (Finance Director) £190,000 £200,000 5.3%
Adrian Fawcett (Chief Operating Officer) £180,000 £190,000 5.6%

When determining the salary of the Executive Directors the Remuneration Committee takes into consideration:
■ the levels of base salary for similar positions within comparable status, responsibility and skills in organisations of broadly similar

size and complexity, in particular the median salary levels of those companies within the comparator group;
■ the performance of the individual Executive Director; 
■ the individual Executive Director’s experience and responsibilities; and
■ the pay and conditions throughout the Group.

Annual Performance Related Bonus
Policy: Upper Quartile Bonus Potential
The policy of the Remuneration Committee is to set the maximum annual bonus potential at the upper quartile in relation to 
the Comparator Group. At the AGM on 15 January 2004 shareholders approved a new bonus structure for Executive Directors and
Senior Group Executives, the Punch Taverns plc Deferred Share Bonus Plan. This Plan has been operated for the 2004 bonus year.
The objectives of the Plan are:
■ to ensure the satisfaction of stretching performance targets before bonuses are earned;
■ to provide an element of bonus earned in shares;
■ to provide a retention mechanism for Executives by rewarding the retention of the share element of their bonus provided

additional performance conditions are satisfied; and
■ to provide a Plan which assists Executives in meeting their minimum shareholding requirements.

The following table shows the split between the maximum immediate cash bonus, bonus share and deferred bonus share potential
for participants in the Plan as a percentage of their basic salary:

Giles Thorley Robert McDonald Adrian Fawcett 
Bonus CEO FD COO

Maximum annual bonus potential 100% 100% 100%
Cash element 75% 75% 75%
Bonus shares 25% 25% 25%
Conditions satisfied
Deferred bonus shares 25% 25% 25%

The cash element of the bonus and the bonus shares are earned in accordance with the satisfaction of the annual bonus
performance conditions set out below. 75% of the maximum annual bonus potential is payable in cash with 25% of this
maximum payable in shares. The cash element of the bonus is paid through payroll at the end of the financial year. The bonus shares
will be acquired for the Executives at the end of the financial year net of tax and held in the Punch Taverns plc General Employee
Benefit Trust. The Company will then grant an award of deferred bonus shares to each Executive calculated by dividing the acquisition
cost per share for the bonus shares into the pre-tax amount of bonus for that Executive used to acquire the bonus shares. Deferred
bonus shares will only be provided to an Executive, if the following conditions are satisfied:
■ he or she is still in the employment of the Company at the end of the three year holding period from the date of award of the

deferred bonus shares; 
■ the Company’s earnings per share (tax normalised) is equal to or exceeds RPI+5% p.a. over the holding period; and
■ the Executive has retained his or her bonus shares for the holding period.
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The bonus earned by the Executive Directors is set out in the following tables:
Giles Thorley Robert McDonald Adrian Fawcett

Name CEO FD COO

Maximum bonus potential (percentage of salary) 100% 100% 100%
2004 bonus paid (cash element and bonus shares) £279,225 £155,800 £120,600
2004 bonus paid as a percentage of salary 85% 82% 67%

The bonuses for 2004 have been paid on the basis of the level of the satisfaction of the performance targets. The table below shows
the principal performance targets used for 2004.
Giles Thorley Robert McDonald Adrian Fawcett
CEO FD COO

EBITDA EBITDA EBITDA
Internal Financial Measures Internal Financial Measures Internal Financial Measures
Pubmaster Integration Pubmaster Integration Pubmaster Integration
EPS Growth Debt Management Operational Targets
Investor Relations Investor Relations Divisional Targets

Bonus targets are reviewed and agreed by the Remuneration Committee at the beginning of each financial year. The performance
measures for the Executive Directors’ participation in the Punch Taverns plc Deferred Share Bonus Plan are reviewed annually by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that they are appropriate to the current market conditions and position of the Company, so that
they continue to remain challenging. 

Participants in the annual bonus plan will only be eligible to receive a bonus if they meet the performance targets. However, the
Remuneration Committee will retain the discretion to adjust bonus payments (either up or down) if in their opinion the results would
otherwise be inappropriate. It should be noted that this discretion will be exercised sparingly to ensure certainty for participants and
transparency for shareholders. If the Remuneration Committee does exercise its discretion to adjust bonus payments it will only
do so where there is an objective justification which can be explained to shareholders in the Remuneration Committee report. In
addition, the Remuneration Committee will ensure that any changes to the basis of payment or financial performance targets are
independently verified.

Bonus payments are not pensionable.

Share Incentives
Policy: Upper Quartile 
The Remuneration Committee’s policy is to provide annual share grants to Executives at the upper quartile level compared to the
Comparator Group. 

The Remuneration Committee determines whether the performance conditions for share awards or options are satisfied. Where the
performance requirements are based on earnings per share (‘EPS’)2 the Committee will use the principles behind the audited figures
disclosed in the Company’s financial statements, and may take advice from independent advisors as to whether any adjustments are
required to ensure consistency in accordance with the terms of the performance conditions. Where the performance measure is
Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’)3, Halliwell Consulting, the Remuneration Committee’s advisors shall calculate the TSR in accordance
with the principles contained within the Regulations and sign-off these figures prior to the release of any award.

Overview
Until the AGM on 15 January 2004, the only discretionary share incentive arrangement in place for Executive Directors and Senior
Group Executives was the Company Discretionary Share Plan. This Plan provides that the maximum annual grant of options was
200% of salary. Under this Plan options are granted over ordinary shares in the Company, at the prevailing market price at the time
of grant, exercisable between three and ten years after the date of grant, with performance conditions set by the Remuneration
Committee. The last grants made under the Plan prior to the adoption of the new policy required annual growth in earnings per
share of RPI+3% over a fixed three year period from the date of grant before options vest. There is no facility for the re-testing of
performance conditions.

As indicated in the 2003 Remuneration Committee report the Company completed a comprehensive review of its share incentive
arrangements during the year which resulted in formal proposals being put to shareholders at the AGM on 15 January 2004 on
changes to the operation of the existing Company Discretionary Share Plan and the introduction of the new Punch Taverns plc 
Long-Term Incentive Plan (the ‘LTIP’); shareholders approved both the changes and the introduction of the new LTIP. Both these 
Plans have been operated by the Company during 2004.

2Earnings per share (‘EPS’) is the total profits of the Company divided by the number of shares in issue which gives the profit generated per share. This is calculated based on a consistent 
effective tax rate across periods.

3Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) is a measure showing the return on investing in one share of the Company over the performance period (the return is the value of the capital gain and
reinvested dividends). It is normally used comparatively and the company which achieves the best return is ranked number one.
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Current policy
The new Remuneration Committee policy was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 15 January 2004. In line with the share
incentive element of this policy the Remuneration Committee has granted combined awards of both options and LTIP share awards
during 2004. The Remuneration Committee believes that a mixture of share options and share awards retains the strengths of both
methods of providing shares; in addition the disadvantages are minimised by enabling the Company to provide a competitive incentive
and retention tool which is also cost effective in respect of both shareholder dilution and P&L cost. Further, the use of combined grants
with the various attached performance conditions ensures that the Company’s comparative TSR performance is at least at the upper
quartile, that absolute share price has increased since the date of grant and that the Company’s earnings per share growth over the
measurement period is a minimum of RPI+15% p.a. before Executives will receive the full benefit of their share incentives. 

There is no re-testing of performance requirements.

The maximum combined grant which can be made in any financial year is 300% of salary (200% of salary under the LTIP and 100%
of salary under the Discretionary Share Option Plan). There will be no re-testing of performance conditions under the Company’s
current remuneration policy. The following table sets out the combined grants made to Executive Directors during 2004:

Discretionary Total 
Long-Term Share Plan Annual 

Incentive Plan (options) Share Award 
Position (% of salary) (% of salary) (% of salary)

Giles Thorley – CEO 200% 100% 300%
Robert McDonald – FD 100% 50% 150%
Adrian Fawcett – COO 100% 50% 150%

The above levels of grant will not apply in future years of the operation of the Plan. The Remuneration Committee has determined
that in future years the maximum potential award under the LTIP and Discretionary Share Plan for the Chief Executive will be 200%
of salary with corresponding reductions in the grant levels to other participants.

Discretionary Share Plan
The principal changes to the historic operation of the Plan relate to the level at which the earnings per share performance condition
has been set and the introduction of a sliding scale for the vesting of options.

The Remuneration Committee took the following factors into account when deciding the appropriate earnings per share performance
measure for grants of options during 2004:
■ the median and upper quartile historic levels of year on year growth in earnings per share for the Comparator Group

companies; and
■ the projected EPS growth for the Company provided by external analysts.

The Remuneration Committee will continue to review these factors when considering the appropriate level of the performance
condition for future grants of options. For 2004 grants the threshold before options can be exercised is earnings per share growth
of RPI+12% p.a. over the three year period from the date of the grant. At this point 40% of share options will vest. All of the
options (i.e. 100%) will vest for EPS growth of RPI+15%. There will be straight line vesting between the two points. 

This practice has substantially increased the threshold level of performance (as reflected through Company performance) required
of Executives. This structure demonstrates the Remuneration Committee’s desire to correlate incentive arrangements with the
achievement of substantial performance. The EPS figures used by the Company to calculate the vesting of options will be the
audited EPS figures disclosed in the Company’s financial statements as adjusted to normalise the tax charge (being the same
effective rate each year).

The Remuneration Committee endeavours to ensure that the performance conditions used are at least in line with market practice 
in the Index. For the year ahead the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the performance conditions for the Discretionary Share
Plan. The Remuneration Committee has revised the EPS targets for next year’s grants. The threshold before options can be exercised
is EPS growth of RPI+8% p.a. over the the three year period from the date of grant. At this point 40% of share options will vest.
All of the options will vest for EPS growth of RPI+12% p.a. There will be straight line vesting between the two points.

The Remuneration Committee considers these levels of earnings growth more appropriate for the Company as following the
acquisition of Pubmaster the Company’s base earnings per share upon grant of options are substantially higher than for the
2003 financial year. In light of the acquisition the Remuneration Committee is of the opinion that earnings growth of between 
8%-12% p.a. above RPI is a challenging target and will reward the Executive Directors as such.

Earnings per share was selected as the performance condition for options by the Remuneration Committee as in combination with
options it ensures that both the Company’s share price and its underlying financial value increases before any benefit is provided
to Executives.

Details of all subsisting option grants are set out on page 36.
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The Punch Taverns plc Long-Term Incentive Plan (the ‘LTIP’)
The LTIP was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 15 January 2004. Prior to the AGM, the Company conducted a full
consultation with major shareholders and shareholder bodies which ensured that the terms of the Plan were acceptable to
shareholders and complied with corporate governance best practice.

Executive Directors, Senior Group Executives and certain senior employees are eligible to participate in the LTIP. The Plan provides
appropriate incentives to reward sustained success through the achievement of challenging business targets, thereby better aligning
the interests of shareholders and Executives. The maximum annual award that can be made to an individual is 200% of salary. 

Eligible executives are awarded rights to receive a maximum number of shares at the beginning of a three year period, a proportion
of which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period depending on the extent to which (if at all) the challenging
performance conditions set by the Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation are made is satisfied. 

The performance conditions for the first grant of awards under the LTIP are set out in the following table:
TSR position against Long-Term Incentive Plan
comparator group % of shares released

Below Median 0
Median* 30
Upper Quartile* 100
*There is straight line vesting between points

The Remuneration Committee will satisfy itself that the recorded TSR is a genuine reflection of the underlying financial performance
of the Company. Due to the combined nature of awards made under the current share incentive policy one of the corporate
performance measures that the Remuneration Committee will be considering in determining whether the recorded TSR is a genuine
reflection of the underlying financial performance of the Company is its EPS performance over the measurement period.

Comparative TSR was selected as the performance condition for LTIP awards by the Remuneration Committee as it ensures that the
Executives have outperformed their peers in the Comparator Group over the measurement period in delivering shareholder value
before being entitled to receive any of their awards irrespective of general market conditions.

Details of all subsisting LTIP Awards are set out on page 36.

Dilution
The following table sets out the current level of dilution against the ABI limits for all share plans and discretionary plans (principally
Executive Plans) and sets out the commitments to issue shares made during the financial year reported:

Additional dilution during
Maximum Current dilution the year in question

10% dilution in ten years 0.82% 0.28%
5% dilution in ten years 0.63% 0.26%

In accordance with the ABI guidelines the Company can issue a maximum of 10% of its issued share capital in a rolling ten year
period to employees under all its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Company can only issue 5% to satisfy awards under
discretionary or executive plans. The additional dilution considers the commitments the Company has made under its share plans
during the financial year. It should be noted that the above figures exclude 3.56% of dilution relating to options granted prior to the
company’s flotation in May 2002 and therefore not subject to the ABI guidelines.

Shareholding requirement
As part of the introduction of the Company’s new share incentive policy Executive Directors and Senior Group Executives who have
been selected to participate in the LTIP will be required to satisfy a minimum shareholding requirement. The following table shows
the minimum shareholding requirement as a percentage of salary which participants will be required to build up over a five
year period:

Percentage of salary at Current shareholding
Position end of five year period as percentage of salary4

Giles Thorley – CEO 200% 240%
Robert McDonald – FD 150% 144%
Adrian Fawcett – COO 150% 10%
4The share price used is the price on 1 December 2003, £6.0825. The salary figures used are the current salaries.

Participants will be required to retain a proportion of the share awards released (options exercised) each year to build up the
shareholding requirement over a 5 year period. For example, grants in 2004, 2005 and 2006 will be released in 2007, 2008 and
2009. A proportion of each released award or option exercised shall if necessary be retained as shares so that by the end of 2008
participants will have met the minimum shareholding requirement. 
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When considering whether the participant has met the minimum shareholding requirement the Remuneration Committee will take
into account all shares held by the Executive. Participants will only be required to meet the minimum shareholding requirement from
shares provided through the Company share arrangements; if these do not provide shares the participant will not be expected
to purchase shares in the market. If the Company share arrangements provide the participant with shares and the appropriate
percentage is not retained, the Remuneration Committee will reduce the future levels of share incentives granted. The Remuneration
Committee will consider the circumstances surrounding a participant’s disposal of shares as part of its determination.

Pension
Policy: Lower Quartile to Median
Giles Thorley, Robert McDonald and Adrian Fawcett are entitled to receive a contribution to their personal pension arrangements
representing 12% of their salary.

Benefits in Kind
Policy: Market Practice
In line with market practice, the Company’s policy is to provide Executive Directors with standard benefits in kind appropriate for
executive directors, such as a car or car allowance, medical insurance and life assurance.

Other Remuneration matters

All Employee Share Schemes
SAYE Scheme
The Company operates an Inland Revenue approved savings related share option scheme for the benefit of group employees.
Eligible employees, including Executive Directors and Senior Group Executives, may be granted options over the Company’s shares
at a discount of up to 20% to the prevailing market price at the time of grant of the option, which (subject to certain conditions)
can be exercised after either three or five years.

Approximately 23% of eligible group employees currently participate in the Scheme.

The Punch Taverns plc Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’) 
Shareholders approved the SIP at the AGM on 15 January 2004.

The Board of the Company was keen to give all employees the opportunity to:
■ invest their salary in Company shares;
■ build up a shareholding in the Company; and 
■ receive an element of bonus in the form of shares.

The Company is currently offering eligible employees, including Executive Directors and Senior Group Executives, the opportunity
of purchasing £1,500 of shares a year out of pre-tax salary and providing additional matching shares on a 1:1 ratio. These
matching shares will be normally released three years after they have been awarded provided that the associated shares
purchased by the employee have been retained and provided the employee is still employed by a Group Company at this time.

Approximately 53% of eligible group employees currently participate in the Plan.

Executive Directors’ contracts
The policy on termination is that the Company does not make payments beyond its contractual obligations. In addition,
Executive Directors will be expected to mitigate their loss. The Remuneration Committee is considering introducing phasing the
payments of notice on cessation in line with the combined ABI and NAPF guidelines, subject to existing contractual constraints.
In addition, the Remuneration Committee ensures that there have been no unjustified payments for failure. None of the
Executive Directors’ contracts provides for liquidated damages. There are no special provisions contained in any of the Executive
Directors’ contracts which provide for longer periods of notice on a change of control of the Company. Further, there are no special
provisions providing for additional compensation on an Executive Director’s cessation of employment with the Company.

Potential termination Potential payment Potential payment
Name Payment upon Company takeover in event of liquidation

Giles Thorley – CEO 12 months salary Nil Nil
Robert McDonald – FD 12 months salary Nil Nil
Adrian Fawcett – COO 12 months salary Nil Nil

The above table shows that the only event on the occurrence of which the Company is liable to make a payment to Executive
Directors is on cessation of employment.
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Non-executive Directors’ fees
Policy: Median Level Fees
All Non-executive Directors have specific terms of engagement and their remuneration is determined by the Board based upon
recommendations from the Chairman and Chief Executive (or, in the case of the Chairman, based on recommendations from the
Senior Independent Non-executive Director and the Chief Executive) within the limits set by the Articles of Association and based
on the median level of fees payable to peers in the same Comparator Group as that used for Executive Directors’ remuneration and
the time commitment each Non-executive Director makes to the Company (through membership of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees). Non-executive Directors cannot participate in any of the Company’s share incentive schemes or
performances based plans and are not eligible to join the Company’s pension scheme.

The basic fee is currently £33,000 p.a. In addition, the Chairs of the Audit and Remuneration Committee are paid an additional
£7,000 p.a.

Directors’ contracts
The following table summarises the contract details for both the current Directors of the Company and those who have resigned
during the year:

Unexpired
term of contract 

Name Status Company notice period Contract date (months)

Giles Thorley Executive 12 months 17 August 2001 Rolling Contract*

Robert McDonald Executive 12 months 3 June 2003 Rolling Contract*

Adrian Fawcett5 Executive 12 months 2 July 2003 Rolling Contract*

Jonathan Paveley6 Executive 12 months 3 May 2004 Rolling Contract*

Peter Cawdron Non-executive 12 months 18 June 2003 21 months
Phil Cox Non-executive 12 months 20 May 2002 9 months
Mike Foster Non-executive 12 months 3 May 2002 9 months
Ian Fraser7 Non-executive 1 month 22 Sept 2004 34 months
Martin Glenn8 Non-executive 1 month 22 Sept 2004 34 months
Marc Jonas9 Non-executive n/a 16 July 2003 n/a – resigned
Cornel Riklin10 Non-executive n/a 18 June 2003 n/a – resigned
Randl Shure Non-executive 12 months 29 July 2003 9 months
Fritz Ternofsky Non-executive 12 months 3 May 2002 9 months
*Contract will continue until terminated by notice either by the Company or the Director.
5Appointed on 15 January 2004
6Appointed on 22 September 2004
7Appointed on 22 September 2004
8Appointed on 22 September 2004
9Resigned from the Board on 22 September 2004
10Resigned from the Board on 15 December 2003

It should be noted that the fees paid for the services of Cornel Riklin, Marc Jonas, Randl Shure and Mike Foster are paid to third parties.

Total shareholder return performance graph
The graph shows the Company’s performance, measured by total shareholder return (‘TSR’), compared with the FTSE 350 Leisure
and Hotels Index (which is the Company’s comparator group). The Remuneration Committee consider the Index a relevant index for
TSR comparison as the Index members represent the broad range of UK quoted leisure companies comparable to the Company.

Value of £1 invested (21 May 2002 – 21 August 2004) 27 months
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Audited information
The total of Director’s emoluments in the year was £1,600,000 (2003: £1,607,000), including pension contributions of £75,000
(2003: £90,000). The remuneration of the Directors at the end of the year, from their date of appointment as Directors was as follows:

Annual Remuneration
Basic salary/fees Benefits1 Bonus Other6 Total Pension
2004 2003 2004 2003 20042 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors
Giles Thorley 328 305 27 25 279 135 – – 634 465 39 33
Robert McDonald 190 148 11 13 156 80 – – 357 241 23 8
Adrian Fawcett3 112 – 8 – 121 – – – 241 – 13 –

Non-executive Directors
Peter Cawdron 34 5 – – – – – – 34 5 – –
Phil Cox 100 100 21 11 – – – – 121 111 – –
Mike Foster 31 30 – – – – – – 31 30 – –
Marc Jonas4 31 56 – 1 – – – – 31 57 – 57

Randl Shure 31 30 – – – – – – 31 30 – –
Fritz Ternofsky 36 35 – – – – – – 36 35 – –
Former Directors
Cornel Riklin5 9 30 – – – – – – 9 30 – –
Stephen Lambert – 60 – 18 – 115 – 320 – 513 – 44
Total 902 799 67 68 556 330 – 320 1,525 1,517 75 90
1Benefits include the following elements: health cover, car, fuel.
2These figures include the amount of the annual performance related bonus (25%) deferred to buy shares (‘Bonus Shares’), in line with the Punch Taverns plc Deferred Share Bonus Plan
approved by shareholders at the AGM on 15 January 2004. Full details of the operation of the Plan are contained in the first part of the Report.

3Appointed to the Board on 15 January 2004.
4Marc Jonas was an Executive Director until 21 February 2003 when he became a Non-executive Director.
5Resigned from the Board on 15 December 2003.
6Other emoluments comprises compensation for loss of office and full and final settlement of any other claims.
7Relates to a period when Marc Jonas was an Executive Director, which ceased on 21 February 2003.

Pension
Since 5 April 2003 the Company contributes 12% of Robert McDonald’s pensionable salary to his individual defined contribution
scheme. Giles Thorley and Adrian Fawcett are entitled to receive a contribution into their personal pension arrangements
representing 12% of their pensionable salary.

Robert McDonald was a member of the Spirit Group Pension Scheme, a defined benefit salary scheme and the Company contributed
23% of his pensionable salary into the scheme. Pursuant to the demerger of the Spirit Group in 2002 the Group ceased to participate
in the scheme on 5 April 2003. Robert McDonald’s pension entitlements under this scheme are as follows:

Defined benefit salary scheme
Accrued Change in Change in 

annual benefit Change in transfer value accrued benefit 
as at accrued benefit Transfer value Transfer value over the year in excess 

21 August 2004 over the year at 21 August 20041 at 23 August 20031 less Director’s of inflation
£000 £000 £000 £000 contributions £000

Robert McDonald 67 2 776 714 62 0
1Transfer values have been calculated in accordance with Guidance Note GN11 issued by the Faculty and Institute of Actuaries. The transfer values represent the actuarial liability of the
pension plan and not the sum paid or due to an individual.
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Directors’ interests in the Company’s Share Plans 
Long-Term Incentive Plan
Approved by shareholders on 15 January 2004

2004
Value of Shares Date of the end 

Value of Shares conditionally Shares of the Holding
conditionally awarded during conditionally Period when

awarded during the year as a awarded during Shares may
the year2 % of salary3 the year be released

£000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors
Giles Thorley 657 200% 126,711 2.03.07
Robert McDonald 190 100% 36,644 2.03.07
Adrian Fawcett 180 100% 34,715 2.03.07
1Awards under the LTIP (which were granted on 2 March 2004) will only be released if the Company’s comparative TSR performance is equal to or greater than the median level of
performance of the Comparator Group over the holding period at which point 30% of awards will be released, with full vesting occurring for upper quartile performance (straight line
vesting between points). Further details are shown on page 32.

2Value based on the price of the Company’s ordinary shares on 2 March 2004 of £5.185.
3Value as a % of salary based on salary level on 2 March 2004.

Inland Revenue Approved Share Incentive Plan
Approved by shareholders on 15 January 2004

2004
Matching Shares

Number of conditionally Date of 
Partnership Shares awarded release of 

purchased during the year Matching Shares

Executive Directors
Giles Thorley 294 294 30.06.07
Robert McDonald 294 294 30.06.07
Adrian Fawcett 294 294 30.06.07
1Partnership Shares are ordinary shares of the Company purchased on 30 June 2004 at a price per share of £5.0982.
2Matching Shares are ordinary shares of the Company awarded on 30 June 2004 which will vest if the employee is still employed by the Company on 30 June 2007.

Discretionary Share Plan (options)
Number Market Number

of Gain price of a of Number Number
Exercise Exercise options at Granted Lapsed Exercised on share on options at of options of options Vesting/

Date of period period Exercise 23 August during during during exercise exercise 21 August already not yet performance
Grant from to price 2003 the year the year the yeara £000 £ 2004 vested vested criteria

Giles Thorley 01.12.01 27.05.02 27.05.07 1.98 5,901,230 – – 1,150,000 3,568 5.08 4,751,230 3,389,032 1,362,198 1
01.12.01 27.05.02 27.05.07 2.05 344,780 – – – – – 344,780 265,193 79,587 1
05.12.02 05.12.05 05.12.12 1.94 154,639 – – – – – 154,639 – 154,639 2
02.03.04 02.03.07 02.03.14 5.19 – 63,355 – – – – 63,355 – 63,355 3

Marc Jonas 27.09.01 27.05.02 27.05.07 1.98 656,749 – – 195,057 605 5.08 461,692 461,692 – n/a
27.09.01 27.05.02 27.05.07 2.05 38,308 – – – – – 38,308 38,308 – n/a

Robert McDonald 27.11.00 27.05.02 27.11.10 1.92 78,181 – – – – – 78,181 78,181 – n/a
03.12.01 27.05.02 03.12.11 2.05 73,295 – – – – – 73,295 54,971 18,324 4
05.12.02 05.12.05 05.12.12 1.94 69,588 – – – – – 69,588 – 69,588 2
03.06.03 03.06.06 03.06.13 2.22 81,264 – – – – – 81,264 – 81,264 2
02.03.04 02.03.07 02.03.14 5.19 18,322 – – – – 18,322 – 18,322 3

Adrian Fawcett 19.08.03 19.08.06 19.08.13 3.10 116,129b – – – – – 116,129 – 116,129 2
02.03.04 02.03.07 02.03.14 5.19 69,431 – – – – 69,431 – 69,431 3

acalculated by reference to the market price of the shares on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the options, disregarding whether such shares were sold or retained, and is stated
before tax.

boptions held at date of appointment as a director on 15 January 2004.

Performance/vesting criteria
Number Condition

1 Vest in equal monthly amounts and will fully vest by May 2005.
2 Vest if EPS growth is at least RPI+3% per annum.
3 40% of options vest if EPS growth of 12%+RPI achieved, 100% vest if EPS growth 

of RPI+15% achieved (straight line vesting between points).
4 Vest in equal quarterly amounts and will fully vest by May 2005.
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Inland Revenue Approved SAYE share option scheme
Number Number 
held at Gain on held at

Date of Exercise 23 August Exercise August
Grant Date 2003 Granted Exercised £000 2004

Executive Directors
Giles Thorley 27.05.02 27.05.05 4,750 – – – 4,750
Robert McDonald 27.05.02 27.05.07 8,275 – – – 8,275

SAYE options have an exercise price of 200p per share and must be exercised within six months of the date shown above. The
Company is taking advantage of the exemption allowed under UITF 17 (Revised) for accounting for options issued at a discount.

The market price of the Company’s shares on 21 August 2004 was £4.335 per share and the high and low share prices during the
year were £5.655 and £2.95 respectively.

On behalf of the Board

Fritz Ternofsky
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit and loss for the Group for that year. In preparing those financial
statements, the Directors are required to:
■ Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.
■ Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.
■ State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in

the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. 

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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We have audited the Group’s financial statements for the 52 week period ended 21 August 2004 which comprise the Group profit
and loss account, Group statement of total recognised gains and losses, Group balance sheet, Company balance sheet, Group 
cash flow statement, and the related notes 1 to 31. These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting
policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Report on directors’ remuneration that is described as having
been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, including the financial statements which are required to be prepared
in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards as set out in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities
in relation to the financial statements.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Report on directors’ remuneration to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, United Kingdom Auditing Standards and the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements
and the part of the Report on directors’ remuneration to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Company
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law or the Listing Rules regarding Directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether
the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements.
This other information comprises Highlights of 2004, Who we are, Strategic & operational review, Helping retailers build better
businesses, Financial review, Board of directors, Senior management, Directors’ report, Corporate governance and the unaudited 
part of the Report on directors’ remuneration. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part
of the Report on directors’ remuneration to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Report on
directors’ remuneration to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. 
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and
the part of the Report on directors’ remuneration to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
21 August 2004 and of the profit of the Group for the 52 week period then ended; and the financial statements and the part of 
the Report on directors’ remuneration to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered auditor
Birmingham
1 December 2004
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53 weeks 
ended

23 August 
52 weeks ended 21 August 2004 2003

Non-recurring Before
exceptional non-recurring 

items exceptional
Total (note 3) items Total

Notes £m £m £m £m

Turnover 2
Ongoing 441.7 – 441.7 429.0
Acquisitions1 195.9 – 195.9 –
Group turnover 637.6 – 637.6 429.0
Cost of sales (240.9) – (240.9) (153.3)
Gross profit 396.7 – 396.7 275.7
Administrative expenses (81.7) (8.2) (73.5) (48.3)
Operating profit 3
Ongoing 235.9 (3.2) 239.1 227.4
Acquisitions1 79.1 (5.0) 84.1 –
Group operating profit 315.0 (8.2) 323.2 227.4
(Loss)/profit on sale of tangible fixed assets (12.0) (12.0) – 2.5
Profit before interest and taxation 303.0 (20.2) 323.2 229.9
Interest receivable 6 9.9 1.8 8.1 7.4
Interest payable 7 (179.6) (4.7) (174.9) (124.0)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 133.3 (23.1) 156.4 113.3
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 8 (30.8) 4.1 (34.9) (15.7)
Profit for the period 102.5 (19.0) 121.5 97.6
Ordinary dividend 10 (22.5) – (22.5) (16.1)
Transferred to reserves 23 80.0 (19.0) 99.0 81.5
Earnings per share
Basic (pence) 11(a) 41.2 39.3
Diluted (pence) 11(b) 40.3 39.2
Adjusted (pence) 11(c) 48.8 39.3
1Relates to the acquisition of Pubmistress Limited, ultimate parent of the Pubmaster trading companies

There were no non–recurring exceptional items in the comparative period.

The profit and loss account for the periods ended 21 August 2004 and 23 August 2003 is in respect of continuing operations.
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52 weeks 53 weeks
ended ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Profit for the period 102.5 97.6
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of tangible fixed assets 84.7 54.9
Total recognised gains and losses for the period 187.2 152.5

Note of Group historical cost profit and losses
for the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2004

52 weeks 53 weeks
ended ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Reported profit before taxation 133.3 113.3
Difference between historical cost depreciation charge and the 0.8 –
actual depreciation charge for the year calculated on the revalued amount
Realisation of property revaluation gains of previous periods 0.8 0.4
Historical cost profit on ordinary activities before taxation 134.9 113.7
Historical cost profit retained after taxation and dividends 81.6 81.9



Group balance sheet
at 21 August 2004

August August
2004 2003

Notes £m £m

Fixed assets
Goodwill 12 132.8 53.3
Negative goodwill 12 (28.2) (29.8)

104.6 23.5
Tangible fixed assets 13 3,569.0 2,221.4

3,673.6 2,244.9
Current assets
Debtors due within one year 15 74.4 49.7
Debtors due after more than one year 15 10.8 12.8
Cash at bank and in hand1 25(c) 238.3 178.7

323.5 241.2
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (335.0) (324.7)

Net current liabilities (11.5) (83.5)
Total assets less current liabilities 3,662.1 2,161.4
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (2,759.2) (1,455.2)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 20 (103.3) (74.9)
Net assets 799.6 631.3

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 22 0.1 0.1
Share premium 23(a) 366.7 363.5
Revaluation reserve 23(a) 186.0 102.9
Profit and loss account 23(a) 246.8 164.8
Equity shareholders’ funds 24 799.6 631.3
1Cash at bank and in hand includes £73.0m (2003: £74.2m) of deposits used as security for guaranteed loan notes.

On behalf of the Board

Giles Thorley Robert McDonald
1 December 2004 1 December 2004
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August August
2004 2003

Notes £m £m

Fixed assets
Investments 14 3,210.1 378.8

Current assets
Debtors due in less than one year 15 432.7 148.0
Debtors due in more than one year 15 513.4 462.8
Cash at bank and in hand1 53.2 83.5

999.3 694.3

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (806.9) (533.6)
Net current assets 192.4 160.7
Total assets less current liabilities 3,402.5 539.5
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (2,831.3) –
Net assets 571.2 539.5

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 22 0.1 0.1
Share premium 23(b) 366.7 363.5
Profit and loss account 23(b) 204.4 175.9
Equity shareholders’ funds 571.2 539.5
1Cash at bank and in hand includes £39.0m (2003: £39.0m) of deposits used as security for guaranteed loan notes.

On behalf of the Board

Giles Thorley Robert McDonald
1 December 2004 1 December 2004
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52 weeks 53 weeks
ended ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

Notes £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 25(a) 327.5 231.5
Returns on investment and servicing of finance
Interest paid (181.5) (118.5)
Interest received 8.5 5.6
Cost of terminating financing arrangements (10.4) (1.9)
Deferred issue costs paid (14.9) –
Dividends paid to preference shareholders of acquired subsidiary (6.6) –

(204.9) (114.8)
Taxation
Taxation paid (4.4) (1.4)
Taxation received – 0.1

(4.4) (1.3)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets1 (99.4) (137.5)
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets 75.6 14.6

(23.8) (122.9)

Acquisitions 26
Payments to acquire subsidiary undertakings (223.0) (15.2)
Net cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary undertaking 39.9 –

(183.1) (15.2)

Equity dividends paid (18.1) (5.2)
Net cash outflow before financing (106.8) (27.9)

Financing
Issue of Ordinary share capital 3.2 0.5
Loans raised 1,017.3 52.8
Loans repaid (854.1) (59.5)
Decrease in cash deposits 1.2 12.8

167.6 6.6
Increase / (decrease) in cash 25(b) 60.8 (21.3)
1Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets includes payments of £48.7m on acquisition of new pubs (August 2003: £94.7m). 

Reclassification of cash deposits
Cash deposits used as security for guaranteed loan notes of £73.0m (2003: £74.2m) have been reclassified as within Financing, (note 25(c)), previously they were
classified as cash. The comparative amounts have been restated to include a cash inflow relating to cash deposits of £12.8m.

Cash flows in respect of the 52 weeks ended 21 August 2004 
Net cash inflow from operating activities includes outflows of £8.2m in respect of redundancy, costs to integrate acquisition of subsidiary and other related
one–off costs treated as exceptional during the period. Interest paid includes outflows of £2.4m and interest received includes inflows of £1.8m relating to
items treated as exceptional in the period. Costs of terminating financing arrangements includes £2.5m of items treated as exceptional within interest payable
(note 4) in the period together with a £5.2m deferred fee paid on redemption of loans and £2.7m paid to terminate interest rate swap arrangements on
loans redeemed. Both the deferred fee and swap termination costs relate to loan arrangements within Pubmistress Ltd, the acquired subsidiary, and are reflected
in the fair value of assets acquired (see note 26). Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets include £53.9m of net proceeds relating to disposals treated as exceptional
in the period (note 4).

Cash flows for the 53 weeks ended 23 August 2003
Net cash inflow from operating activities included outflows of £3.8m relating to exceptional items expensed during the period ended 17 August 2002. Further,
costs of terminating financing arrangements of £1.9m paid during the period ended 23 August 2003 related to exceptional costs charged to the profit and 
loss account during the period ended 17 August 2002.
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1. Accounting policies

Accounting period
The accounting period of the Group ends on the Saturday falling between 17 August and 24 August each year. The accounting
period ended 21 August 2004 was of 52 weeks duration, the period ended 23 August 2003 was of 53 weeks duration.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain properties within
the Group and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. In accordance with FRS 18 the Directors have continued to
review the accounting policies. There have been no changes in accounting policy. 

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Punch Taverns plc and all its subsidiary undertakings for the
52 weeks to 21 August 2004.

All subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the Group profit and loss account and
statement of cash flows include the results and cash flows of subsidiaries from the date of acquisition to the period end.

Goodwill and negative goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised in the balance sheet within intangible fixed assets and is amortised over its useful
economic life up to a presumed maximum of 20 years. Acquisitions giving rise to goodwill and their associated amortisation periods
of 20 years commenced as follows:

Punch Taverns Group Ltd: September 1999
Commer Inns: December 2001
White Rose Inns Ltd: May 2002
Conquest Inns Ltd: December 2002
Pubmistress Ltd: December 2003

Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions is included within intangible fixed assets and is amortised over the estimated useful life of
the non-monetary assets acquired, which is approximately 22 years. Acquisitions giving rise to negative goodwill and their associated
amortisation periods commenced as follows:

Inn Business Group plc: September 1999
Allied Domecq Retailing (Holdings) Ltd: September 1999

Fixed assets and depreciation
Valuation
Trading properties within the estate are revalued professionally by independent valuers on a five-year rolling basis.

Surpluses arising from the professional valuation of the estate are taken directly to the revaluation reserve. Valuation surpluses
realised on sale are transferred from the revaluation reserve to the profit and loss account reserve.

Any deficit arising from the professional valuation of properties is taken directly to the revaluation reserve until the carrying amount
reaches historical cost and thereafter, deficits below historical costs are charged to the profit and loss account except to the extent
that the value in use exceeds the valuation in which case this is taken to the revaluation reserve.

Depreciation
It is the Group’s policy to maintain the properties comprising the licensed estate in such a condition that the residual values of the
properties, based on prices prevailing at the time of acquisition or subsequent revaluation, are at least equal to their book values.
The primary responsibility for the maintenance of such properties, ensuring that they remain in sound operational condition, is
normally that of the lessee as required by their lease contracts with the Group. Having regard to this, it is the opinion of the Directors
that depreciation of any such property as required by the Companies Act 1985 and generally accepted accounting practice would
not be material.

It is the opinion of the Directors that it is not practical or appropriate to separate from the value of the buildings the value of long 
life fixtures and fittings, which are an integral part of the buildings. This approach is supported by the opinion of an independent
external adviser.

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings include removable items, which are generally regarded as within landlord ownership. These are
depreciated in accordance with the policy detailed below.

An annual impairment review is carried out on all properties in accordance with FRS 11 and FRS 15.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Depreciation is provided on other tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value of each
asset evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:

Short leasehold properties – over the lease term
Landlord’s fixtures and fittings – 5 years
Office furniture and fittings – 5 years
Information technology developments – over 3 to 10 years
Information technology equipment – 3 years
Motor vehicles – 5 years

Taxation
Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated
but not reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future 
or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which to recover carried forward tax losses and
from which the future reversal of underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Provision is made for tax on gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments) of fixed assets, or gains on disposal
of fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there is a
binding agreement to dispose of those assets concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis of all available evidence
at the balance sheet date, it is more likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into replacement assets and charged to
tax only where the replacement assets are sold.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected
to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
is measured on a non-discounted basis.

Leasing commitments
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Pensions
The Group operates a defined benefit scheme based on final pensionable pay. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost over employees’
working lives with the Group.

The Group contributes to money purchase pension plans for other employees. Contributions are charged to the profit and loss
account as they become payable.

Capital instruments
Shares are included in shareholders’ funds. Other instruments are classified as liabilities if they contain an obligation to transfer
economic benefits and if not they are included in shareholders’ funds. The finance cost recognised in the profit and loss account
in respect of capital instruments other than equity shares is allocated to periods over the term of the instrument at a constant rate 
on the carrying amount.

Derivative financial instruments are held to reduce exposure to interest rate movements. To qualify as a hedge the financial
instrument must be related to actual borrowings or a probable commitment and must reduce the risk of interest rate movements.
Gains and losses arising on these financial instruments are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss account only when the
hedged transaction has itself been reflected in the Group’s financial statements.

The cost or income associated with caps and floors is recognised over the lesser of their duration or the period of the loans to
which they relate, so as to give a constant proportion of the related loan notes outstanding. In respect of interest rate swaps,
interest differentials are recognised by accruing for net interest payable or receivable.

Interest rate caps, floors or swaps are not revalued to fair value if they are being used for hedging purposes. If an instrument,
which was being used as a hedge, is terminated early the gain or loss arising is spread over the remaining maturity of the original
instrument. If an instrument ceases to be accounted for as a hedge because the underlying financial position is eliminated, 
the instrument is marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

Employee share schemes
The consideration paid for the Company’s own shares held by the Employee Share Option Plan are deducted from shareholders’
funds in accordance with UITF 38. On unconditional vesting of these options the amount is transferred to the profit and loss reserves.
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2. Turnover and segmental analysis

Turnover, which is stated net of value added tax, represents amounts charged to third parties. Turnover, operating profit and assets
and liabilities relate to the primary activity of leasing public houses to independent publicans and the wholesale supply of beer
products to lessees. 

A small number of pubs are directly managed by GRS Inns Ltd, part of the acquired Pubmaster group of companies, but do not have
a material impact on the turnover, operating profit or assets of the group.

Turnover includes rent receivable from the licensed estate of £162.6m (August 2003: £117.7m).

3. Operating profit

The profit and loss account down to operating profit is split between ongoing and acquired operations as follows:
53 weeks 

ended
23 August 

52 weeks ended 21 August 2004 2003

Ongoing Acquisitions1 Total Total
£m £m £m £m

Turnover 441.7 195.9 637.6 429.0
Cost of sales (155.2) (85.7) (240.9) (153.3)
Gross profit 286.5 110.2 396.7 275.7
Administrative expenses:
Amortisation of goodwill (1.7) (3.1) (4.8) (1.7)
Depreciation (7.7) (3.7) (11.4) (5.5)
Exceptional items (note 4) (3.2) (5.0) (8.2) –
Other (38.0) (19.3) (57.3) (41.1)
Total administrative expenses (50.6) (31.1) (81.7) (48.3)
Operating profit 235.9 79.1 315.0 227.4

Other administrative expenses includes:
Amortisation
– Goodwill 3.3 3.1 6.4 3.4
– Negative goodwill (1.6) – (1.6) (1.7)
Depreciation of owned fixed assets 7.7 3.7 11.4 5.5
Auditors remuneration
– Audit services 0.2 0.1 0.3 0.2
– Non audit services2 – – – –
Operating lease rentals
– Land Buildings 2.4 1.5 3.9 2.9
– Plant and equipment 0.6 0.7 1.3 0.4
1Relates to the acquisition of Pubmistress Limited, ultimate parent of the Pubmaster trading companies
2In addition to auditors’ remuneration set out above, fees of £0.9m (August 2003: £0.1m) were incurred relating to the acquisition of subsidiaries (note 26) and fees of £0.3m 
(August 2003: £nil) were incurred in relation to the refinancing of the Group’s debt (note 18).
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4. Exceptional items

Included in continuing operations in the current period are the following exceptional items:
Period ended

21 August 
2004

£m

Exceptional administrative expenses
Redundancy, costs to integrate acquisition of subsidiary and other related one-off costs (8.2)
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets1 (12.0)
Interest receivable
Interest receivable on deposits to fund repayment of old floating rate notes2 1.8
Interest payable and similar charges
Secured Loan interest3 (2.3)
Cost of terminating financing arrangements4 (2.4)

(4.7)
Total Exceptional Items (23.1)
Tax impact of exceptional items 4.1
Exceptional items included in retained profit (19.0)

In the prior period the Group profit and loss account included a non-operating exceptional item of £2.5m relating to profit on
disposal of tangible fixed assets. These disposals are a recurring feature of the Group’s business and results. In the current period
no net profit or loss was made on such disposals.

1The profit and loss account for the period ended 21 August 2004 includes £12.0m losses made on the sale of a package of 256 pubs from the existing pub estate following the acquisition
of Pubmistress Ltd in order to comply with competition guidelines.

2£277m was paid into an escrow account to cover redemption of and associated interest payable on floating rate notes relating to the old financing structure that were not subject to an
acceptance of tender offer before the refinancing. The exceptional interest receivable represents the interest earned on these funds from date of refinancing (3 November 2003) to the final
redemption of the loans (on the following interest payment date) that would not otherwise have been earned had the loans been settled at the date of the debt restructure.

3Represents interest payable on the floating rate notes not subject to acceptance of tender offer from date of debt restructure to final redemption that would not otherwise been paid had
the loans been repaid at date of debt restructure. 

4Represents premiums paid together with write-off of deferred issue costs, fair value premiums and other balances relating to the floating rate notes redeemed as a part of the debt restructure.

The tax charge/(credit) on non-operating exceptional items is as follows:
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

(Loss) / profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets – –
Interest receivable 0.5 –
Interest payable and similar charges (2.2) –

(1.7) –
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5. Staff costs
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Wages and salaries 22.4 14.1
Social security costs 2.0 1.3
Other pension costs 1.3 1.1

25.7 16.5

The average number of employees during the period was as follows:
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

No No

Management and administration 521 355
Retail staff 179 –

700 355

Retail staff relate to GRS Inns Ltd, whose main trading activity is the direct management of public houses. GRS Inns is part of the
acquired Pubmaster group of companies.

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 27 to 37. 

6. Interest receivable
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Bank interest receivable 6.4 5.7
Amortisation of interest rate floor 1.7 1.7
Exceptional item
Exceptional interest receivable (note 4) 1.8 –

9.9 7.4

7. Interest payable and similar charges
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Bank loans 2.3 4.2
Loan notes 165.5 112.9
Other interest payable 0.7 0.4
Amortisation of interest rate cap 2.0 2.1
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 2.5 1.8
Effect of unwinding discounted provisions 1.9 2.6
Exceptional charges
Exceptional interest payable and similar charges (note 4) 4.7 –

179.6 124.0
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8. Taxation

The tax charge is made up as follows:
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Current tax
UK corporation tax 6.0 1.8
Tax over provided in previous periods – (0.1)

6.0 1.7
Deferred tax
Current period charge 24.8 14.0

24.8 14.0
30.8 15.7

Factors affecting current and future tax charges
The current tax charge for the period reflects the utilisation of brought forward losses not previously recognised as deferred tax assets.

The deferred tax charge arises in respect of the origination and reversal of timing differences. The Group’s current period deferred tax
charge reflects that in the period capital allowances exceeded depreciation. This position is expected to continue given the Group’s
accounting policy not to charge depreciation on freehold and long leasehold on the basis that this would not be material.

The tax charge will be lower than the standard corporation tax rate of 30% over the next two to three years if the Group is
successful in using brought forward losses.

As a result of the acquisition of Pubmistress Ltd, the Group owns further companies having tax losses. These tax losses may be used
against any future taxable profits of the companies in which they originated.

The charge to UK corporation tax is reconciled as follows:

Reconciliation of tax charges
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 133.3 113.3
Profit on ordinary activities at standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%) 40.0 34.0
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.2 2.1
Timing differences relating to fixed assets (8.6) (12.0)
Short term timing differences (8.8) (0.9)
Loss / (profit) on sale of tangible fixed assets 3.6 (0.8)
Utilisation of tax losses brought forward (23.0) (20.6)
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous periods – (0.1)
Surplus current period losses 0.6 –
Corporation tax charge for period 6.0 1.7

The taxation charge for the period is reduced due to the utilisation of brought forward losses within the Group.

9. Profit attributable to members of the parent company

The Company made a profit after tax for the period of £50.6m (August 2003: £45.7m). The Company retained profits of £28.1m
(August 2003: £29.6m).



Notes to the financial statements 
at 21 August 2004 continued

Punch Taverns plc
Annual report and financial statements 2004
www.punchtaverns.com

51

10. Dividends
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August 
2004 2003

£m £m

Equity dividends on ordinary shares:
Interim paid 2.9 pence (2003: 2.1 pence) 7.2 5.2
Final proposed 6.1 pence (2003: 4.4 pence) 15.3 10.9

22.5 16.1

11. Earnings per ordinary share

(a) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on a total profit of £102.5m (August 2003: £97.6m), and weighted average
number of equity shares in issue during the period of 249,082,407 (August 2003: 248,037,266).

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings is the basic earnings per share after allowing for the dilutive effect of the conversion into Ordinary shares of the
weighted average number of options outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share of 40.3 pence (2003: 39.2 pence)
has been calculated using basic earnings of £102.5m (2003: £97.6m) and, after including the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The weighted average number of shares can be reconciled as follows:

Period ended Period ended
21 August 23 August 

2004 2003
No No

Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares 249,082,407 248,037,266
Dilutive effect from share options 5,206,056 966,363
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 254,288,463 249,003,629

(c) Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share is based on basic profits adjusted to exclude non-recurring exceptional items and is calculated as follows:

Period ended
21 August

2004
£m

Profit for the period 102.5
Non-recurring exceptional items (note 4) 19.0
Adjusted earnings 121.5

It has not been necessary to make any adjustment in the comparative period as there were no non-recurring exceptional items. The
weighted average number of shares used is the same as that used to calculate basic earning per share. 

12. Goodwill and negative goodwill
Negative

Goodwill goodwill Total
£m £m £m

Cost:
At 23 August 2003 66.2 (36.3) 29.9
Arising on acquisitions (note 26) 85.9 – 85.9
At 21 August 2004 152.1 (36.3) 115.8
Amortisation:
At 23 August 2003 12.9 (6.5) 6.4
Charge / (credit) for the period 6.4 (1.6) 4.8
At 21 August 2004 19.3 (8.1) 11.2
Net book amount:
At 21 August 2004 132.8 (28.2) 104.6
At 23 August 2003 53.3 (29.8) 23.5

Additions to goodwill relate to the goodwill arising on the acquisition of Pubmistress Ltd (note 26).
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12. Goodwill and negative goodwill continued

Included in goodwill and negative goodwill are the following acquisitions:
August 2004 Charge / (credit)

Cost Amortisation in the period
£m £m £m

Goodwill
Punch Taverns Group Ltd 64.1 16.0 3.2
Commer Inns 0.2 – –
White Rose Inns Ltd 0.6 0.1 –
Conquest Inns Ltd 1.3 0.1 0.1
Pubmistress Ltd 85.9 3.1 3.1
Total goodwill 152.1 19.3 6.4
Negative goodwill
Inn Business Group plc (8.7) (1.9) (0.4)
Allied Domecq Retailing (Holdings) Ltd (27.6) (6.2) (1.2)
Total negative goodwill (36.3) (8.1) (1.6)

13. Group tangible fixed assets
Public house 

Land & fixtures and Other
buildings fittings assets Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation:
At 23 August 2003 2,212.8 16.6 7.6 2,237.0
On acquisitions (note 26) 1,253.4 8.6 – 1,262.0
Additions 82.3 13.0 4.6 99.9
Disposals (86.4) (2.1) (0.2) (88.7)
Revaluation surplus 83.4 – – 83.4
At 21 August 2004 3,545.5 36.1 12.0 3,593.6
Depreciation:
At 23 August 2003 4.2 8.5 2.9 15.6
Provided in the period 3.3 6.0 2.1 11.4
Eliminated on disposals (0.4) (0.6) (0.1) (1.1)
Revaluation surplus (1.3) – – (1.3)
At 21 August 2004 5.8 13.9 4.9 24.6
Net book value:
At 21 August 2004 3,539.7 22.2 7.1 3,569.0
At 23 August 2003 2,208.6 8.1 4.7 2,221.4

The net book value of land and buildings may be analysed as follows:
Long Short 

Freehold Leasehold Leasehold Total
£m £m £m £m

At 21 August 2004 3,366.6 141.5 31.6 3,539.7
At 23 August 2003 2,089.7 97.2 21.7 2,208.6

If land and buildings had not been revalued they would have been stated on a historical basis as follows:
Total

£m

Cost 3,367.7
Accumulated depreciation (14.0)
Net book value:
At 21 August 2004 3,353.7
At 23 August 2003 2,105.7
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13. Group tangible fixed assets continued

Gross book value
Following the revaluation of 20% of the estate the split of land and buildings included at valuation or cost is as follows:

Cost or Net book
valuation value

£m £m

At 2004 valuation 513.5 513.5
At 2003 valuation 466.0 466.0
At 2002 valuation 421.1 421.9

1,400.6 1,401.4
At cost 2,144.9 2,138.3

3,545.5 3,539.7

Assets shown at cost include £1,221.0m in respect of the Pubmistress Limited Group, which were revalued on acquisition at 
1 December 2003. 

As required by FRS 15 and FRS 11 the Directors have performed a review of fixed assets for impairment.

The Group’s policy is to carry properties within the estate at valuation. The trading properties within the estate are revalued
professionally by independent valuers on a five-year rolling basis.

Surpluses arising from the professional valuation of the estate are taken directly to the revaluation reserve.

During each of the periods ended 21 August 2004, 23 August 2003 and 17 August 2002, 20% of the licensed premises of the
Group were valued in accordance with market practice by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Ltd, Chartered Surveyors, acting as external
valuers. The valuation did not include any element relating to the trading potential of the licensed premises. The valuation of the
remaining portfolio has not been updated, as the Directors are not aware of any material change in value.

14. Fixed assets investments
Shares in 

subsidiary
undertakings

£m

Company
Cost:
At 23 August 2003 378.8
Additions 2,831.3
At 21 August 2004 3,210.1

Additions related to a reorganisation of the Group’s securitisation structure as part of the refinancing. The additions were funded via
movements in Group balances (see note 17).
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14. Fixed assets investments continued

Details of the principal subsidiary undertakings are as follows:
Name of Company Nature of business

Subsidiary undertakings
Owned directly:
Punch Taverns (PGE) Ltd (previously Punch Group (Equity) Ltd) Holding company

All of which are directly or indirectly wholly owned 
subsidiaries of Punch Taverns (PGE) Ltd:
Punch Taverns (PGRP) Ltd (previously Punch Group (Retail Properties) Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (VPR) Ltd (previously Punch Pub Company (VPR) Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (PTL) Ltd (previously Punch Pub Company (PTL) Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (PPCF) Ltd (previously Punch Pub Company (Fradley) Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (CMG) Ltd (previously Punch Pub Company (CMG) Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (Centrum) Ltd (previously Punch Pub Company (Centrum) Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (Jubilee) (previously Punch Pub Company (Jubilee) Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (SPML) Ltd (previously Sister of Pubmaster Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (PML) (previously Pubmaster Ltd) Pub operating company
Punch Taverns (PM) Ltd (previously Pubmistress Ltd) Intermediate holding company
Punch Taverns (PPCS) Ltd (previously Punch Pub Company (Supply) Ltd) Intermediate supply company
Punch Funding II Ltd Financing company
Punch Taverns Finance plc Financing company
Punch Taverns (Red) Ltd (previously Punch Pub Company (Red) Ltd) Financing company
Punch Centrum Loan Company Ltd Financing company
Pubmaster Finance Ltd Financing company
Punch Taverns (Offices) Ltd Property company
GRS Inns Ltd Pub retailing company

All the above companies are wholly owned.

All companies were incorporated in England and Wales other than Punch Funding II Ltd, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

15. Debtors
Group Company

August August August August
2004 2003 2004 2003

£m £m £m £m

Due in less than one year
Trade debtors 51.3 29.3 – –
Other debtors 1.6 4.1 0.5 0.1
Prepayments and accrued income 21.5 16.3 0.1 –
Deferred tax (note 21) – – – 2.6
Amounts due from Group undertakings – – 432.1 145.3

74.4 49.7 432.7 148.0

Group Company
August August August August

2004 2003 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m

Due after more than one year
Prepayments and accrued income 10.8 12.8 – –
Amounts due from Group undertakings – – 513.4 462.8

10.8 12.8 513.4 462.8

Amounts included in prepayments and accrued income due after more than one year relate to interest rate caps, swaps and swaptions.



Notes to the financial statements 
at 21 August 2004 continued

Punch Taverns plc
Annual report and financial statements 2004
www.punchtaverns.com

55

16. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Group Company

August August August August
2004 2003 2004 2003

£m £m £m £m

Loans (note 18) 127.4 183.9 39.0 39.0
Trade creditors 53.7 35.2 – –
Other creditors 27.4 19.5 – –
Corporation tax 28.6 19.6 2.6 –
Social security and other taxes 13.2 5.3 – –
Accruals and deferred income 69.4 50.3 1.4 0.8
Proposed dividend 15.3 10.9 15.3 10.9
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – – 748.6 482.9

335.0 324.7 806.9 533.6

17. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Group Company

August August August August
2004 2003 2004 2003

£m £m £m £m

Loans (note 18) 2,746.0 1,444.6 – –
Accruals and deferred income 13.2 10.6 – –
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – – 2,831.3 –

2,759.2 1,455.2 2,831.3 –

Amounts due to Group undertakings arose due to a reorganisation of the Group’s securitisation structure as part of the refinancing
(see note 14).

18. Loans
August 2004 August 2003

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due
after more after more 

within one than one within one than one
year year Total year year Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Secured loan notes:
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc 20.4 1,788.5 1,808.9 23.1 707.3 730.4
Issued by Punch Funding II Ltd – – – 12.2 705.1 717.3
Issued by Pubmaster Finance Ltd 21.7 956.1 977.8 – – –

42.1 2,744.6 2,786.7 35.3 1,412.4 1,447.7
Issued by Punch Taverns plc:
Guaranteed loan notes 2009 39.0 – 39.0 39.0 – 39.0
Issued by other Group companies
Guaranteed loan notes 2004 34.0 – 34.0 35.2 – 35.2
Other bank loans 12.3 1.4 13.7 74.4 32.2 106.6

127.4 2,746.0 2,873.4 183.9 1,444.6 1,628.5

The bank loans are secured by charges over assets of certain Group companies. 

Guaranteed loan notes of £73.0m for the Group (August 2003: £74.2m) and £39.0m for the Company (August 2003: £39.0m) 
are secured against bank deposits of an equal amount guaranteed by Barclays Bank plc. The Guaranteed loans are repayable on
demand at the option of the loan holder up to the final repayment dates noted above.

The bank loans are at floating rates of interest linked to LIBOR.

On 3 November 2003 the Group concluded a refinancing that led to a simplified securitisation structure with all secured loan notes
issued at that date being issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc within a single securitisation net (see below). The refinancing raised
net proceeds of £265.0m that was made available for investment purposes. The refinancing led to an improvement in the maturity
profile of the Group’s borrowings and a reduction, although modest due to the continuing effect of interest rate swaps the Group
presently has in place, in the effective interest rate on the Group’s borrowings.
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18. Loans continued

On 1 December 2003 the Group, through its acquisition of Pubmistress Ltd and its subsidiaries, acquired secured loan notes with
a nominal value of £894.2m (book value including fair value premium – £980.8m) issued by Pubmaster Finance Ltd and bank term
loans totalling £114.6m. Immediately following the acquisition the bank term loans were repaid in full together with an accrued
deferred fee of £5.2m. The deferred fee is reflected in the fair value of assets acquired (note 26).

Secured loan notes
The secured loan notes have been secured by way of fixed and floating charges over various assets of the Group.

As at 21 August 2004 all loan notes issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc and Pubmaster Finance Ltd are repayable in instalments 
of which £2,492.8m (August 2003: £1,274.7m) is payable after more than five years. 

The details for the secured loan notes, including the date of the final instalment for each class of note as indicated in its description
and the impact of the Group’s refinancing, are as follows:

Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc:
August 2004 August 2003

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due
after more after more 

within one than one within one than one
year year Total year year Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Class A1(R) (formerly class A4) secured fixed rate – 270.0 270.0 – 270.0 270.0
notes repayable April 2022 at 7.274% per annum
Class A1 secured floating rate notes repayable – – – 22.7 81.3 104.0
April 2008 at LIBOR1 +0.6% per annum
Class A2(R) secured fixed rate notes repayable – 300.0 300.0 – – –
2020 at 6.82% per annum
Class A2 secured floating rate notes repayable – – – – 85.0 85.0
April 2011 at LIBOR1 +0.75% per annum to April 2008 
and LIBOR1 plus 2% thereafter
Class A3(R) secured floating rate notes repayable 21.8 113.6 135.4 – – –
April 2009 at LIBOR1 +0.32% per annum
Class A3 secured floating rate notes repayable – – – – 95.0 95.0
April 2015 at LIBOR1 +0.95% per annum to April 2008 
and LIBOR1 plus 2% thereafter
Class B1 (formerly class B) secured fixed rate notes – 140.0 140.0 – 140.0 140.0
repayable April 2026 at 7.567% per annum
Class B2 secured fixed rate notes repayable 2029 – 150.0 150.0 – – –
at 8.374% per annum
Class C(R) secured fixed rate notes repayable – 215.0 215.0 – – –
October 2033 at 6.468%
Class C secured fixed rate notes repayable – – – – 25.0 25.0
January 2027 at 10.414% per annum to 2005 
and LIBOR1 plus 7.5% per annum thereafter
Class M1 secured fixed rate notes repayable 200.0 200.0 – – –
October 2026 at 5.883% per annum
Class M2 secured floating rate notes repayable – 400.0 400.0 – – –
October 2026 at LIBOR1 plus 1.15% to October 2011 
and LIBOR1 plus 2.3% thereafter

21.8 1,788.6 1,810.4 22.7 696.3 719.0
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 0.7 13.3 14.0 0.7 12.9 13.6
Less: deferred issue costs (2.1) (13.4) (15.5) (0.3) (1.9) (2.2)

20.4 1,788.5 1,808.9 23.1 707.3 730.4
1For 3 month deposits

The Group’s refinancing resulted in the following changes to the Punch Tavern Finance plc debt structure:
■ £965.0m of new loan notes (Class A3(R), Class M1, Class M2 and Class C(R)) were issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc. £14.6m

of the Class A3(R) have been redeemed since refinancing;
■ the remaining fixed rate secured loan notes issued by Punch Funding II Ltd have been replaced by identical loan notes issued by

Punch Taverns Finance plc (Class A2(R) and Class B2 above);
■ Class A1, A2 and A3 floating rate secured notes were redeemed at par;
■ Class C Secured Notes were redeemed at a premium of £1.4m included within exceptional interest payable (note 4);
■ Premiums arising from fair value adjustments and deferred issue costs relating to the redeemed secured loan notes were written

off to exceptional interest payable within costs of terminating financing arrangements (note 4).
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18. Loans continued

Issued by Punch Funding II Ltd:
August 2004 August 2003

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due
after more after more 

within one than one within one than one
year year Total year year Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Class A2 secured notes repayable 2020 – – – – 300.0 300.0
at 6.82% per annum
Class M secured floating rate notes repayable 2029 – – – 13.4 181.2 194.6
at LIBOR plus 1.1% per annum to June 2005 and 
LIBOR plus 3.3% per annum thereafter
Class N1 secured floating rate notes repayable 2030 – – – – 45.0 45.0
at LIBOR plus 2.65% per annum to June 2005 and 
LIBOR plus 7.95% per annum thereafter
Class N2 secured notes repayable 2029 at – – – – 150.0 150.0
8.374% per annum
Class O secured floating rate notes repayable 2030 – – – – 30.0 30.0
at LIBOR plus 5.75% per annum to June 2005 
and LIBOR plus 17.25% per annum thereafter

– – – 13.4 706.2 719.6
Less: deferred issue costs – – – (1.2) (1.1) (2.3)

– – – 12.2 705.1 717.3

The Group’s refinancing resulted in the following changes to the Punch Funding II Ltd debt structure:
■ Class A2 and Class N2 fixed rate secured loans were cancelled and replaced by identical loan notes issued by Punch Taverns

Finance plc (Class A2(R) and B2 above);
■ Class M and Class N1 floating rate secured notes were redeemed at par;
■ Class O floating rate notes were redeemed at a premium of £0.3m included in exceptional interest payable (note 4);
■ Deferred issue costs relating to redeemed notes were written off to exceptional interest payable within costs of terminating

financing arrangements (note 4).

Issued by Pubmaster Finance Ltd:
August 2004 August 2003

Amounts falling due Amounts falling due
after more after more 

within one than one within one than one
year year Total year year Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Class A1 secured floating rate notes repayable 10.1 60.0 70.1 – – –
June 2009 at LIBOR plus 1% per annum
Class A2 secured floating rate notes repayable – 26.5 26.5 – – –
March 2011 at LIBOR1 plus 1.25% per annum to 
September 2009 and 2.50% thereafter
Class A3 secured notes repayable June 2022 – 201.0 201.0 – – –
at 7.369% per annum
Class A4 secured floating rate notes repayable 7.4 46.7 54.1 – – –
June 2009 at LIBOR1 plus 0.4% per annum
Class A5 secured floating rate notes repayable – 120.0 120.0 – – –
September 2016 at LIBOR1 plus 0.53% per annum 
to December 2012 and 1.32% thereafter
Class A6 secured notes repayable December 2024 – 220.0 220.0 – – –
at 5.943% per annum
Class B1 secured notes repayable June 2025 – 77.5 77.5 – – –
at 8.44% per annum 
Class B2 secured notes repayable June 2028 – 125.0 125.0 – – –
at 6.962% per annum

17.5 876.7 894.2 – – –
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 4.2 79.4 83.6 – – –

21.7 956.1 977.8 – – –
1For 3 month deposits
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18. Loans continued

Hedging Instruments
The Group has taken out various hedging instruments to reduce the interest rate risk associated with floating rate loans as follows:

Punch Taverns Finance plc
As part of the refinancing, the Group entered into new interest rate swaps on 3 November 2003 which swap the LIBOR interest rate
on the Class A3(R) and Class M2 floating rate notes to fixed rates of 6.275%. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time
to match the expected repayment profile of the floating rate notes. 

Prior to refinancing, the Group had entered into interest rate swaps which swapped the LIBOR interest rate on the Class A1, Class
A2 and Class A3 floating rate notes to fixed rates ranging from 6.2% to 6.5175% per annum. The capital amount of these swaps
reduced over time to match the expected repayment profile of the floating rate notes. These swap arrangements were cancelled 
as part of the refinancing on 3 November 2003 following redemption of the floating rate notes and replaced with the new swap
arrangements described above.

In October 2000 the Group entered into a swaption exercisable before 15 October 2005 which can swap LIBOR on a capital amount
of up to £25.0m for a fixed rate of 9% until October 2027. This was cancelled on 3 November 2003 as part of the refinancing.

There was no net cost to the Group as a result of the issue of new interest swap arrangements within Punch Taverns Finance plc and
termination of the old interest rate swap and swaption arrangements within Punch Taverns Finance plc and Punch Funding II Limited.

Punch Funding II Ltd
Prior to refinancing the Group had interest rate swap arrangements which swapped the LIBOR interest rate on the Class M, Class 
N1 and Class O floating rate notes to a fixed rate of 6.4973% per annum. The capital amount of these swaps reduced over time 
to match the expected repayment profile of the floating rate notes. These swap arrangements were cancelled following the
redemption of the floating rate notes as part of the refinancing on 3 November 2003 and replaced with new swap arrangements
within the Punch Taverns Finance plc security net (see above).

In June 2000 the Group entered into a swaption exercisable before 28 June 2005 which can swap LIBOR on a capital amount of up
to £23.6m for a fixed rate of 8% until June 2030. This was cancelled on 3 November 2003 as part of the refinancing.

Pubmaster Finance Limited
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into, to swap the LIBOR interest rate to a fixed rate of 5.7535% on the Class A1
and Class A2 notes and to 5.7% on the Class A4 and Class A5 notes.

Other bank loans
In January 2003 the Group entered into interest rate swaps which swap the LIBOR interest rate to a fixed rate of 4.44% until January
2005. The nominal capital impacted varies over the life of the swap currently being £21.0m and falling to £20.2m from October
2004 through to January 2005.

At the date of acquisition of Pubmistress Ltd, interest rate swap arrangements were in place to cover the bank terms loans at a fixed
rate of 6.0761%. These swaps were terminated at the same time as the loans to which they related were redeemed.

19. Financial instruments

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings and some cash. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial instruments such as
trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group enters into derivative transactions. The purpose of such transactions is to manage the interest rate risks arising from the
Group’s sources of finance. It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no speculative trading
in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and liquidity risk. There is no currency exposure as
all transactions and financial instruments are in sterling. The board reviews and agrees policies for each of these risks and they are
summarised below:

Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of equity shareholders’ funds, loan notes and other bank loans. The Group
borrows at both fixed and floating rates of interest and then employs financial instruments to generate the desired interest rate
profile and to manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The cash balances attract interest at floating rates.

Where over-hedging arises (for example, due to early repayment of floating rate notes) the Group will seek to eliminate the 
over-hedging, where this is financially practical, either by embedding the cost in new swaps or by terminating the over-hedge.
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19. Financial instruments continued

The Group has taken out capital instruments such that 98% of all loans at 21 August 2004 (August 2003: 91%) were either at fixed
rate or were converted to fixed rate as a result of swap arrangements. 

Liquidity risk
The Group is primarily financed by loan notes, with approximately 90% (August 2003: 82%) of the capital balance on these loan
notes being repayable after more than 5 years from the balance sheet date, subject to relevant covenants being met. The board
continues to review alternative sources of finance. Cash balances are invested in short term deposits such that they are readily
available to settle short term liabilities or to fund capital additions.

The maturity of borrowings is:
Group Company

August August August August
2004 2003 2004 2003

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 127.4 183.9 39.0 39.0
Within one to two years 57.5 40.5 – –
Within two to five years 195.7 129.4 – –
After five years 2,492.8 1,274.7 – –

2,873.4 1,628.5 39.0 39.0

The maturity of other financial liabilities, which comprise interest rate floors and swaps, other liabilities due after more than one year
and provisions for liabilities and charges is as follows:

August August
2004 2003

£m £m

Within one year 11.2 10.8
Within one to two years 10.6 9.7
Within two to five years 23.0 22.6
After five years 14.1 6.6

58.9 49.7

As permitted by FRS 13, short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the numerical analyses following in notes (a) to (c).

(a) Interest rate profile
The interest rate profile of the financial liabilities of the Group comprising borrowings and other financial liabilities (after taking into
account interest rate swaps that convert floating rate debt to fixed rate) was:

August August
2004 2003

£m £m

Sterling:
Fixed rate 2,830.4 1,507.7
Floating rate 70.0 148.6
Nil rate 31.9 21.9

2,932.3 1,678.2

Total financial liabilities are analysed in note 19(c). Nil rate financial liabilities relate to interest rate floors and swaps, other liabilities
due after more than one year and the property lease provision. Details of the interest rates and repayment dates of borrowings are
set out in note 18.

The weighted average interest rate on the fixed rate borrowings (including borrowings where swaps convert them to fixed rate) is
7.1% (August 2003: 7.7%) and their weighted average period until maturity is 15 years (August 2003: 14 years).

The weighted average period until maturity of the Nil rate liabilities is 5.1 years (August 2003: 3.2 years). 

The floating rate liabilities bear interest at rates linked to LIBOR.

Financial assets include sterling cash balances of £238.3m (August 2003: £178.7m) that earn interest at rates linked to LIBOR. Cash
balances include £73.0m (August 2003: £74.2) of deposits used as security for guaranteed loan notes. Other financial assets are
non-interest bearing.
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19. Financial instruments continued

(b) Borrowing facilities
At 21 August 2004 the Group had the following unused committed borrowing facilities:

August August
2004 2003

£m £m

Facilities expiring:
Within one year 212.7 3.6
Within one to two years 50.0 –
After two years – 11.4

262.7 15.0

As part of the Group’s refinancing on 3 November 2003, the Group’s existing loan facilities were replaced by new loan facilities
(outside the Punch Taverns Finance plc securitisation net) of £275m have since been put in place, which are available to finance
pub acquisitions.

(c) Fair value of financial instruments
Set out below is a comparison of book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities:

Book Value Fair Value Book Value Fair Value
August August August August

2004 2004 2003 2003
£m £m £m £m

Financial assets:
Cash deposits 238.3 238.3 178.7 178.7
Interest rate caps, swaps and swaptions 12.8 – 14.9 4.0

251.1 238.3 193.6 182.7
Financial liabilities:
Secured loan notes 2,786.7 2,909.3 1,447.7 1,615.0
Bank and other loans 86.7 87.0 180.8 181.0
Borrowings 2,873.4 2,996.3 1,628.5 1,796.0
Interest rate floors and swaps 17.0 54.2 12.5 65.0
Other liabilities due after more than one year – – 1.1 1.0
Provisions for liabilities and charges 41.9 38.0 36.1 34.0
Other financial liabilities 58.9 92.2 49.7 100.0
Total financial liabilities 2,932.3 3,088.5 1,678.2 1,896.0

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities have been estimated as follows:

Interest rate caps, floors, swaps and swaptions – Estimated market value
Secured loan notes – Estimated market value
Bank and other loans – Present value of the discounted future cash flows
Liabilities due after more than one year and provisions – Present value of the discounted future cash flows
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19. Financial instruments continued

(d) Hedges of future transactions
Gains and losses on derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are not recognised until the exposure that is being hedged
is recognised. The cost or proceeds of acquiring or selling these derivatives is amortised over the lives of the related loans.

Unrecognised gains and losses on instruments used for hedging, and the movements therein, are as follows:
August 2004 August 2003

Total gain / Total gains / 
Gains (losses) (losses) (losses)

£m £m £m £m

Unrecognised gains / (losses) on hedges at beginning of period – (63.4) (63.4) (61.0)
(Gains) / losses recognised in the period 2.0 11.3 13.3 14.5
Gains / (losses) arising in the period that were not recognised in that period 0.1 – 0.1 (16.9)
Unrecognised gains/(losses) on hedges at the end of the period 2.1 (52.1) (50.0) (63.4)

Gains / (losses) expected to be recognised in the following period (1.3) (7.0) (8.3) (15.7)
Gains / (losses) expected to be recognised beyond the following period 3.4 (45.1) (41.7) (47.7)

2.1 (52.1) (50.0) (63.4)

The losses of £13.3m recognised in 2004 (2003: losses of £14.5m) are mainly attributable to the cost of swapping LIBOR for a fixed
rate, which has exceeded LIBOR throughout the period, and is included within bank and other loan interest payable.

The overall net loss reflects the costs of fixing interest rates on the Group’s secured loan notes and other loans, which are anticipated
to be expensed over the life of those secured loan notes and other loans.

20. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Onerous Property Pension Deferred

Contracts Leases costs Taxation Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Group
At 23 August 2003 27.8 8.3 – 38.8 74.9
Unwinding of discount effect of provisions 1.9 – – – 1.9
On acquisitions – 8.3 4.3 (2.2) 10.4
Charged to the profit and loss account – – – 24.8 24.8
Utilised during the period (7.0) (1.7) – – (8.7)
At 21 August 2004 22.7 14.9 4.3 61.4 103.3

The onerous contracts provision relates to termination costs due in respect of a beer supply contract. The termination costs are
payable over seven years and commenced during April 2000.

The provision for property leases has been set up to cover operating costs of vacant premises. The provision covers the expected
shortfall between rental income and rents payable including any other operating costs. Payments are expected to be ongoing on
these properties for a number of years.

21. Deferred taxation
August August

2004 2003
£m £m

Group
The deferred tax balance consists of:
Capital allowances in advance of depreciation 62.9 52.0
Short term timing differences 0.9 (3.9)
Losses (2.4) (9.3)

61.4 38.8
Deferred taxation assets not recognised are as follows:
Losses 22.8 16.6

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in relation to losses that arise in companies where there are presently limited taxable profits
against which they may be offset only to the extent that it is more likely than not that these losses will be used in the foreseeable future.
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21. Deferred taxation continued

The amount of deferred tax that has not been provided on revalued fixed assets and fixed assets subject to rollover relief, is estimated
to be £230.0m (2003: £94.0m). At present, it is not envisaged that any tax will become payable in the foreseeable future.

August August
2004 2003

£m £m

Company
The deferred tax asset balance included within debtors consists of:
Losses – 2.6
The deferred taxation asset not provided is as follows:
Losses – 3.8

22. Share capital
August August

2004 August 2003 August
No 2004 No 2003

(000) £m (000) £m

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 0.04786p each 104,479,333 50.0 104,479,333 50.0

August August
2004 August 2003 August

No 2004 No 2003
(000) £m (000) £m

Allotted, called-up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 0.04786p 249,968 0.1 248,233 0.1

(a) Changes in share capital
Under the Discretionary Share Plan 1,673,793 Ordinary shares were issued at an average price of £1.93 per share. Under the SAYE
scheme 10,058 and 1,777 Ordinary shares were issued to employees at prices of £2.00 and £1.66 per share respectively. Under the
Share Incentive Plan 49,040 matching shares were issued at par consideration (see note 22 (c)).

The issue of these shares resulted in total cash proceeds of £3.2 million (August 2003: £0.5million).

(b) Rights of shareholders 
All Ordinary shares in issue at 21 August 2004 rank pari passu in all respects.

(c) Share option and other share related incentive schemes
The Company has four share incentive schemes by which Directors and employees are able to acquire shares in the Company.

SAYE Scheme
The first scheme is the Savings Related Scheme open to all employees, whereby the proceeds from a ‘Save As You Earn’ savings
contract, of either three or five years duration, is used to exercise options granted at the commencement of the savings contract at a
discount of 20% to the market value of the shares at the date of grant. Options may be exercised within six months of the maturity
of the contract. This scheme was introduced during the period ended 17 August 2002 with a further invitation to join during the
period ended 23 August 2003. There were no options granted under this scheme in the year ended 21 August 2004. 

Shares under option within this scheme are as follows:
Number of shares Subscription Price (£) Exercise date

147,814 2.00 1 July 2005 to 1 January 2008
254,894 1.66 1 July 2006 to 1 January 2009

The scheme is Inland Revenue approved and the Company has taken advantage of the exemption from applying UITF 17 (Revised)
in these financial statements.

Discretionary Share Plan
The second scheme is a Discretionary Share Plan whereby options are granted to senior management over Ordinary shares in the
Company, at the prevailing market price at time of grant. These are exercisable between three and ten years after the date of grant,
with performance targets set by the Remuneration Committee. Performance targets for options granted on 2 March 2004 are set
on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options vesting on growth of RPI + 12% per annum up to 100%
vesting on growth of RPI + 15% per annum. Performance targets for options granted between 5 December 2002 and 19 August
2003 are set at earnings per share growth of RPI +3% per annum. The options granted under this scheme prior to 5 December
2002 do not have performance criteria, and will vest provided the employee to whom the options were granted remains within 
the Group up to the exercise date.
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22. Share capital continued

(c) Share option and other share related incentive schemes continued
Details of the total number of shares under option and within this scheme as at 21 August 2004 are as follows: 

Number of
shares under Subscription

Date of Grant option Price (pence) Exercise date

Granted in previous years:
29 November 2000 413,829 192 27 May 2002 to 29 November 2010
27 September 2001 461,692 198 27 May 2002 to 29 November 2010
27 September 2001 38,308 205 3 December 2002 to 3 December 2011
3 December 2001 4,751,230 198 27 May 2002 to 29 November 2010
3 December 2001 1,130,915 205 3 December 2002 to 3 December 2011
5 December 2002 1,127,649 194 5 December 2005 to 5 December 2012
3 June 2003 81,264 221.5 3 June 2006 to 3 June 2013
19 August 2003 116,129 310 19 August 2006 to 19 August 2013
Granted in the period ended 21 August 2004:
2 March 2004 290,022 518.5 2 March 2007 to 2 March 2014

Long Term Incentive Plan
The third scheme is a Long-Term Incentive Plan whereby senior management will receive conditional rights to acquire Ordinary 
shares in the Company, at the prevailing market rates at time of grant. Eligible employees are awarded rights to acquire a maximum
number of shares at the beginning of a three year period, a proportion of which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that
period depending on the extent to which the challenging performance conditions set by the Remuneration Committee at the time
the allocation is made are satisfied. Further information on the performance conditions of the Long-Term Incentive Plan are shown
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. At 21 August 2004 eligible employees hold rights over Ordinary shares which may result in
the issue of up to 351,718 shares on 2 March 2007 at a subscription price of 518.5 pence. 

Share Incentive Plan 
The fourth scheme is a Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’) open to all employees, whereby proceeds contributed to the Partnership Share
Agreement by employees are used to buy shares in the Company at prevailing market values. These shares are called Partnership
Shares and are held in a trust on behalf of the employee. For every Partnership Share bought by the employee the Company will 
give the employee one share free of charge (Matching share). The employees have to take their shares out of the plan on leaving
the Company and will not be entitled to the Matching Share if they leave within three years of buying the Partnership Shares. If the
Company awards dividends to its shareholders, the employee will receive a dividend on each of the Partnership and Matching 
Shares they hold. The Company will arrange for the dividends to be used to buy extra shares (Dividend Shares). Dividend Shares
must be held in the plan for three years before they can be removed unless the employee leaves the Company in which case they
must be taken out. The scheme was introduced in June 2004 with shares being acquired at market values on a monthly basis. As at
21 August 2004 49,040 shares had been issued by the Company to the trust at par value. The par value of the shares issued which
has been deducted from reserves is negligible. The market value of these shares at 21 August 2004 was £0.2m.

23. Reserves

(a) Group
Share Revaluation Profit & 

Premium reserve loss account
£m £m £m

At 23 August 2003 363.5 102.9 164.8
Exercise of share options 3.2 – –
Surplus on revaluation of properties – 84.7 –
Realisation of surplus on disposal of revalued assets – (0.8) 0.8
Transfer of additional depreciation on revalued assets – (0.8) 0.8
Share based payment adjustment – – 0.4
Retained profit for the period – – 80.0
At 21 August 2004 366.7 186.0 246.8
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23. Reserves continued

(b) Company
Share Profit & 

Premium loss account
£m £m

At 23 August 2003 363.5 175.9
Exercise of share options 3.2 –
Share based payment adjustment – 0.4
Retained profit for the period – 28.1
At 21 August 2004 366.7 204.4

The share based payment adjustment relates to costs recorded under SIP/LTIP settled or to be settled by the issue of new shares.

24. Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds
August August

2004 2003
£m £m

At the beginning of the period 631.3 494.4
Exercise of share options 3.2 0.5
Total recognised gains and losses 187.2 152.5
Share based payment adjustment 0.4 –
Equity dividends (22.5) (16.1)
At the end of the period 799.6 631.3

25. Notes to the cash flow statement

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August
2004 2003

£m £m

Operating profit 315.0 227.4
Cash flows in respect of costs of fundamental reorganisation – (3.8)
Depreciation 11.4 5.5
Decrease in current asset investments – 0.1
Amortisation of goodwill / negative goodwill 4.8 1.7
Decrease in debtors 0.8 6.7
Decrease in creditors and provisions (4.5) (6.1)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 327.5 231.5

(b) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Period ended Period ended

21 August 23 August
2004 2003

£m £m

Increase / (decrease) in cash in the period 60.8 (21.3)
Cash inflow from change in cash deposits (1.2) (12.8)
Cash (inflow) / outflow from change in debt financing (148.3) 6.7
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows (88.7) (27.4)
Bank and other loans of subsidiaries acquired in the period (1,095.4) (11.5)
Other non cash movements in net debt (1.2) (0.8)
Change in net debt resulting from non cash flows (1,096.6) (12.3)
Movement in net debt (1,185.3) (39.7)
Net debt at beginning of period (1,449.8) (1,410.1)
Net debt at end of period (2,635.1) (1,449.8)
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25. Notes to the cash flow statement continued

(c) Analysis of changes in net debt
At 23 At 21

August On Non cash August
2003 acquisitions Cash flow movements 2004

£m £m £m £m £m

Cash 104.5 – 60.8 – 165.3
Cash deposits 74.2 – (1.2) – 73.0
Cash at bank and in hand 178.7 – 59.6 – 238.3
Bank and other loans (1,628.5) (1,095.4) (148.3) (1.2) (2,873.4)

(1,449.8) (1,095.4) (88.7) (1.2) (2,635.1)

The cash deposits are used as security for guaranteed loan notes (note 18).

(d) Non-cash movements and material non-cash transactions
Included in analysis of changes in net debt (above):

Period ended Period ended
21 August 23 August

2004 2003
£m £m

Write-off of deferred issue costs and premium on redeemed loan notes (2.5) –
Amortisation of deferred issue costs and premium on loan notes 1.3 (0.8)

(1.2) (0.8)

There were no other material non-cash movements or transactions in the current or prior period in addition to the above.

(e) Cash flows relating to exceptional items
In the current period there were net cash inflows of £34.8m relating to non-recurring exceptional costs expensed and receipts
credited to the profit and loss account in the current period, and a further £21.7m of receipts relating to other exceptional items.
These comprised of:

Within operating cash flows
■ Outflow of £8.2m relating to exceptional administrative expenses;

Within return on investment and servicing of finance
Interest
■ Outflow of £2.3m relating to exceptional interest paid;
■ Inflow of £1.8m relating to exceptional interest receivable;

Cost of terminating financing arrangements
■ Outflow of £2.5m relating to costs of terminating financing arrangements within the existing Punch group;
■ £5.2m deferred fee paid on redemption of loans acquired through the acquisition of Pubmistress Ltd*;
■ £2.7m paid to terminate interest rate swap arrangements on loans redeemed following the acquisition of Pubmistress Ltd*;
*both the deferred fee and the termination of swap arrangements related to loan arrangements within Pubmistress Ltd, the acquired subsidiary, and are reflected in the fair value of assets
acquired (note 26).

Within capital expenditure and financial investment
■ Inflow of £53.9m of net proceeds relating to the sale of a package of 256 pubs treated as a non-recurring exceptional item 

in the period;
■ Inflow of £21.7m relating to the sale of other tangible fixed assets.

In the period ended 23 August 2003 there were cash outflows of £5.7m relating to exceptional costs and costs of fundamental
reorganisation expensed in the profit and loss during the period ended 17 August 2002. These comprised of:
■ £3.8m included in operating cash flows relating to non-operating costs, being costs of fundamental reorganisation;
■ £1.9m relating to cost of terminating financing arrangements.

In addition, in the period ended 23 August 2003 the Group received £14.6m from the sale of tangible fixed assets.
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25. Notes to the cash flow statement continued

(f) Cash flows relating to acquisitions
The following table summarises the cash flows relating to continuing operations and acquisitions during the current period:

Continuing
Operations Acquisitions Total

£m £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 239.2 88.4 327.6
Returns on investment and servicing of finance (143.9) (61.0) (204.9)
Taxation paid (0.8) (3.6) (4.4)
Capital expenditure and financial investment (52.0) 28.2 (23.8)
Acquisitions (183.1) – (183.1)
Equity dividends paid (18.2) – (18.2)
Net cash outflow before financing (158.8) 52.0 (106.8)

Of total loans repaid during the period of £854.1m, £114.6m relates to repayments of loans that were acquired through the
Pubmistress Ltd acquisition. 

26. Acquisitions during the period

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Pubmistress Ltd
On 1 December 2003 the Group acquired the entire share capital of Pubmistress Ltd which operates a leased / tenanted estate. 
At the date of acquisition the estate consisted of 3,115 pubs.

The acquisition is summarised as follows:
Fair value adjustments

Alignment
of accounting Fair

Book Value Revaluation policies Other Value
£m £m £m £m £m

Intangible fixed assets 94.7 (94.7) – – –
Tangible fixed assets 932.8 329.2 – – 1,262.0
Debtors 51.2 (16.1) (5.8) 2.8 32.1
Cash 39.9 – – – 39.9
Creditors and provisions (70.5) (11.1) 1.6 (20.7) (100.7)
Loans (1,013.4) (82.0) – – (1,095.4)
Net assets acquired 34.7 125.3 (4.2) (17.9) 137.9
Goodwill arising on acquisition 85.9
Total cash consideration 223.8

The principal fair value adjustments were in respect of:
Revaluations
■ revaluation of fixed assets and reversal of consolidated goodwill
■ revaluation of loans and financial instruments, included within creditors and provisions, to fair value
■ derecognition of deferred taxation assets relating to losses

Alignment of accounting policies
■ adjustment to decrease debtors and creditors to bring treatment of fixtures and fittings in line with Group policy

Other
■ additional provision for bad debts of £1.2m
■ provision for onerous leases of £8.3m
■ provision for deficit on defined benefit pension scheme of £4.3m
■ additional deferred tax assets of £4.0m against additional onerous lease, dilapidations and pension provisions
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26. Acquisitions during the period continued

The trading results of the business acquired from the beginning of their financial year (being 29 September 2003) to the date 
of acquisition were as follows:

£m

Turnover 48.0

Operating profit 19.2
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets (0.4)
Interest payable less receivable (13.0)
Profit before taxation 5.8
Taxation (0.8)
Profit after taxation 5.0
Preference dividends (0.8)

4.2

The profit after taxation and retained profit for the acquired business for the year ended 28 September 2003 was £8.1m and 
£5.6m respectively.

27. Financial commitments

Capital Commitments
August August

2004 2003
£m £m

Group
Contracted not provided 6.9 10.2

Operating Leases
At 21 August 2004 the Group had annual commitments under non–cancellable operating leases as set out below:

Land & Land &
Buildings Other Buildings Other

August August August August
2004 2004 2003 2003

£m £m £m £m

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year – 0.1 – –
Within two to five years 0.5 0.6 0.3 0.3
After five years 3.1 0.1 3.1 –

3.6 0.8 3.4 0.3

28. Pension commitments

Defined Benefit Scheme – Pubmistress Ltd
Contributions to the defined benefit pension scheme are charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost of pensions
over employees’ working lives with the Group. The pension cost for the year in relation to this scheme represents the contributions
payable by the Group and amounted to £0.4m from date of acquisition. The contributions are determined by a qualified actuary on
the basis of triennial valuation using the projected unit method. The most recent valuation was 6 April 2001. The assumptions which
have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are:
■ the investment return on the assets of the plan will on average exceed general salary inflation by at least 2.25% per annum over

the long term;
■ future increases in salaries of staff and executive members will be in line with experience of similar schemes;
■ pensions can be secured on a gross rate of interest of at least 6.0% per annum before allowing for pension increases at the rate

of 3.0% per annum.

The most recent formal actuarial valuation showed that the market value of the scheme’s assets was £27.5m and that the value 
of those assets represented 106.0% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in
earnings. An actuarial assessment as at the date Pubmistress Ltd was acquired (1 December 2003) indicated that the scheme had 
a current funding deficit of £4.3m. This amount has been provided as a fair value adjustment (note 26).
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28. Pension commitments continued

Defined Benefit Scheme – Spirit Group Pension Scheme
Prior to the demerger of Spirit Group Limited (‘Demerger’) on 2 March 2002 the Group operated a defined benefit pension scheme,
which required contributions to be made to a separately administered fund. The principal employer was Spirit Group Ltd, which 
was disposed at Demerger, and consequently the Group ceased at that time to operate its own defined benefit pension scheme.
Employees of the continuing business who were members of that scheme continued to be members following Demerger up until
April 2003 when contributions ceased, and the Group ceased to record any ongoing costs in respect of this scheme. 

Contributions to this fund were charged in the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost of pensions over the employees’
working lives within the Group. Differences between the amounts funded and the amounts charged in the profit and loss account
were treated as either provisions or prepayments in the balance sheet. 

During the period ended 21 August 2004 a final one-off contribution, required under the terms of the Demerger, of £0.6m was
paid to the scheme in respect of the Group’s employees who were members of the scheme. This sum was provided for at Demerger.
The Group now contributes to money purchase plans in respect of employees who were members of the defined benefit scheme. 

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme into which existing members of the Spirit Group Pension Scheme 
were given the opportunity to transfer their benefits or they were able to leave them in the scheme. These transfers have now 
been finalised.

In the prior periods contributions to the defined benefit scheme were charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the
cost of pensions over employees’ working lives within the Group. The contributions were determined by a qualified actuary, on the
basis of triennial valuations, using the projected unit method. The most recent valuation at time of Demerger was as at 5 April 2001.
The valuation method used was the projected unit method with the following main assumptions:
Long term average investment yield
– before retirement 6.8%
– after retirement 5.8%
Long term average earnings increase 3.9%
Increases to pensions in payment
– with 3% underpin 3.5%
– without 3% underpin 2.4%
Long term average price inflation 2.4%

The valuation showed that the market value of the scheme’s assets was £52.8m and that the actuarial value of these assets
represented 92% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for future increases in benefits.

FRS 17 disclosures – scheme funding
Pubmistress Ltd Scheme
The acquired Pubmistress Ltd business operates a defined benefit scheme in the UK. A full actuarial valuation was carried as 
at 6 April 2001. The results of that valuation have been projected to 21 August 2004 and then recalculated based on the 
following assumptions:

At At
21 August 1 December

2004 2003*

Rate of increase in salaries 4.25% 4.00%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.75% 2.50%
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75%
Inflation assumption 3.00% 2.75%
Revaluation of deferred pensions 3.00% 2.75%
*date of acquisition of the Pubmaster group of companies

Since April 2003 the company has paid contributions of 16% of salaries. The contributions paid for the period (which equates to the
charge for the period) in respect of this defined benefit scheme were £0.4m (August 2003: £nil).
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28. Pension commitments continued

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
Long-term Long-term

rate of return rate of return 
expected at Value at expected at Value at

21 August 21 August 1 December 1 December 
2004 2004 2003 2003*

£m £m £m £m

Equities 7.00% 16.2 7.00% 16.9
Bonds 5.25% 5.4 5.25% 5.1
Insured Pensions 5.75% 3.0 5.75% 3.0
Cash 5.00% 0.9 5.00% 0.2
Total market value of assets 25.5 25.2
Present value of scheme liabilities (30.4) (29.0)
Net pension liability before deferred tax (4.9) (3.8)
Deferred tax asset 1.5 1.1
Net pension liability (3.4) (2.7)
*date of acquisition of the Pubmaster group of companies

Spirit Group Pension Scheme
The FRS 17 disclosures in the prior period allowed for the Demerger by reflecting the Group’s continued participation in the Scheme
for part of the period. However, going forward the Group will not have any liabilities or assets associated with the scheme. 

The Company contributed to the scheme at the rates of 23% of Pensionable Salaries for executives and 11% for others since the
scheme commenced on 5 April 2000. 

The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries in updating the latest valuation scheme for FRS 17 purposes
for the periods ending 17 August 2002 and 23 August 2003 were: 

Rate of increase in salaries 4.0%
Rate of increase in pensions 3.5% For former members of the Allied arrangements

2.5% For all other members
Discount rate 5.7%
Inflation assumption 2.5%

The normal contributions paid for the period (which equates to the charge for the period) in respect of the defined benefit scheme
were £nil (August 2003: £0.3m). As noted above, the Group also paid a final ‘one-off’ contribution of £0.6m which was provided
for at Demerger. 

The assets and liabilities of the scheme and the expected rates of return figures have not been provided for the current or preceding
period as from 1 April 2003 the Group no longer participates in the scheme.

FRS 17 disclosures – other
The disclosures below relate to the Pubmistress Limited scheme for the period ended 21 August 2004 and the Spirit Group Pension
Scheme in preceding period.

Had FRS 17 been implemented early then the impact on the balance sheet would be as follows:
August August

2004 2003
£m £m

Reserves
Profit and loss account as reported 245.8 164.8
FRS 17 deficit in relation to the defined benefit pension scheme (net of deferred tax) (3.4) –
Add: SSAP 24 pension provision (net of deferred tax) 3.0 –
Profit and loss account as restated 245.4 164.8

August August
2004 2003

£m £m

Net assets
Net assets as reported 799.6 631.3
FRS 17 deficit in relation to the defined benefit pension scheme (net of deferred tax) (3.4) –
Add: SSAP 24 pension provision (net of deferred tax) 3.0 –
Net assets as restated 799.2 631.3
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28. Pension commitments continued

The movement in deficit during the period is as follows:
Period to Period to 

21 August 23 August
2004 2003

£m £m

Deficit in scheme (before deferred tax) at beginning of period – (3.6)
Movements in period:
Deficit in Pubmistress Ltd scheme on acquisition (1 December 2003) (3.8) –
Current service cost (0.4) (0.2)
Contributions 0.4 0.3
Other financial income – (0.1)
Actuarial loss (2.1) (0.5)
Provision for one-off contribution – 2.1
Curtailment gain 1.0 –
Settlement gain – 2.0
Deficit in scheme (before deferred tax) at end of period (4.9) –

Had FRS 17 been implemented early then the impact on the other areas of the financial statements would be as follows:

Amounts credited to operating profit
Period to Period to 

21 August 23 August
2004 2003

£m £m

Current service cost (0.4) (0.2)
Gain on curtailment 1.0 –
Settlement gain – 2.0
Total operating credit 0.6 1.8

Amounts included in other financial charges
Period to Period to 

21 August 23 August
2004 2003

£m £m

Expected return on pension assets 1.1 0.3
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (1.1) (0.4)
Net charge – (0.1)

Amounts recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses (‘STRGL’)
Period to Period to 

21 August 23 August
2004 2003

£m £m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets (0.7) (0.5)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (1.4) –
Actuarial loss recognised in STRGL (2.1) (0.5)

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets as a percentage of scheme assets and the actuarial loss recognised in
the STRGL as a percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities in the current period are 3% and 7% respectively. For 2003
this information was not applicable since the Group did not have a defined benefit scheme at its year end.

Money purchase plans
The Group contributes to individual money purchase pension plans for other employees. The Group’s costs under the money purchase
pension plans were £0.9m (August 2003: £0.8m).



29. Related party disclosures

Current period information
There were no transactions with directors or other related parties requiring disclosure under FRS8 – Related Party Disclosures.

Prior period information
During the period ended 23 August 2003 34 pubs were acquired for cash from Spirit Group Limited, part of the managed business
demerged in March 2002, for £12.8m.

30. Contingent liabilities

The Demerger of the Managed pub business on 2 March 2002 was carried out under the provisions of ss213-218 ICTA 1988.

Usually, where a chargeable asset for tax purposes is transferred from one company to another company and both companies are
within the same group, this transfer is at no gain / no loss initially for tax purposes. However, by virtue of s179 TCGA 1992 where
the transferee company leaves the group’s ownership within 6 years of the date of the transfer, a capital gain or loss will arise on the
transferee by reference to the market value of the asset and the no gain / no loss acquisition consideration. Where the transferee
company leaves the group under an exempt distribution, there is an exemption from the s179 charge.

However, the exemption from charge under s179 TCGA 1992 does not apply if there is a chargeable payment (a payment not made
for bona fide commercial reasons or made for tax avoidance purposes) within 5 years of the exempt distribution. 

A Deed of Tax Covenant was entered into by the Group and Spirit Group (Holdings) Ltd on 2 March 2002 as part of the Demerger.

Under this Deed of Tax Covenant the Group has indemnified the Managed pub business for any s179 TCGA 1992 exit charges that
would arise if the Group made a chargeable payment within 5 years of the Demerger or otherwise prevented the Demerger
dividend from being an exempt distribution.

31. Post balance sheet events

On 10 September 2004 the Directors announced that Punch Taverns (ITB) Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, acquired the entire
share capital of InnSpired Group Ltd. The acquisition values InnSpired at approximately £335m including the assumption of £258m
of external debt. The acquisition was funded through a combination of cash and loans from the Group’s existing resources.

InnSpired, a private company, operates a leased and tenanted pub estate of 1,064 pubs located throughout England and Wales. 

In order to address specific areas of local concentration, Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Punch Taverns
plc, agreed to sell 88 pubs to Admiral Taverns for a total cash consideration of £22.6 million. Of the 88 pubs sold, 51 were from the
InnSpired estate and 37 were from the existing Punch estate.

On 21 October 2004 the Group agreed terms to redeem the fixed rate component of the InnSpired securitisation loan notes and
announced plans to redeem the remaining securitisation loan notes, to be replaced initially by short term borrowing. This redemption
was achieved in full by 22 November 2004.
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